CHAPTER THREE

Enhancing Rapeseed Tolerance to Heat and Drought Stresses in a Changing Climate: Perspectives for Stress Adaptation from Root System Architecture

Wei Wu^{*, §}, Bao–Luo Ma^{*, 1} and Joann K. Whalen[¶]

*State Key Laboratory of Crop Stress Biology in Arid Areas, College of Agronomy, Northwest A&F University, Yangling, Shaanxi, China

[§]Ottawa Research and Development Centre, Agriculture and Agri—Food Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada [¶]Department of Natural Resource Science, McGill University, Ste—Anne—de—Bellevue, QC, Canada ¹Corresponding author: E—mail: baoluo.ma@agr.gc.ca

Contents

1.	Introduction	88
2.	Heat and Drought as Environment-Induced Abiotic Stressors	97
	2.1 Definition of Abiotic Stress	97
	2.1.1 Heat Stress	98
	2.1.2 Drought Stress	100
	2.1.3 Combined Heat and Drought Stresses	101
	2.2 Critical Growth Stages and Intensity of Abiotic Stress	102
	2.3 Pollen Longevity, Pollination, and Fertilization	104
	2.4 Transcription Factor	105
	2.5 MicroRNA	108
	2.6 Proteome Analysis	109
	2.7 Regulation of Phytohormones	112
	2.8 Reactive Oxygen Species	113
	2.9 Quantitative Trait Loci	114
3.	Root System Architecture	119
	3.1 Methods for Measuring Root System Architecture	121
	3.1.1 Traditional Methods	125
	3.1.2 2D Quantification Systems	127
	3.1.3 3D Quantification Systems	128
	3.1.4 Other Root Quantification Methods	131
	3.2 Impact of Stress on Roots and Its Anchorage	133

4. Implications and Future Challenge				
	4.1 Modifying Root System Architecture for Stress Adaptation	137		
	4.2 Agronomic Management for Stress Adaptation	138		
	4.3 Breeding Selection for Stress Adaptation	139		
5.	Concluding Remarks	141		
Ac	knowledgments	141		
Re	ferences	141		

Abstract

Globally, the increase in climatic variability is responsible for more frequent extreme heat and drought stress events. Heat and water stress have a devastating impact on plant growth, development, and formation of the yield components of rapeseed/ canola, an important oilseed crop for human consumption and a renewable feedstock for biodiesel production. The growing demand for rapeseed/canola will not be met unless strategies are rapidly developed to sustain and improve crop yields and product guality in the context of global climate change. Therefore, the objective of this review is to discuss the development of rapeseed/canola varieties with enhanced tolerance to heat and drought stresses, as the most promising solution to improve crop productivity in the future. The genetic basis of stress tolerance has provided plant breeders with new options for efficient breeding programs that support high yield potentials under both favorable and stressful environments. This review provides an update on recent advances in characterizing the response of rapeseed/canola to heat and drought stresses, from the molecular level (i.e., signal transduction) to phenotypes at the whole-plant and agroecosystem scales. Of particular interest is the ability of the root system to alleviate abiotic stressors. Roots, as the "hidden half" of the plant, play a central role in acquiring water and nutrients (i.e., improving water and nutrient use efficiencies) as well as anchoring the crop so it can resist lodging and tolerate heat and drought stresses. Considering the urgent need to achieve sustainable production of rapeseed/canola under changing climatic conditions, it is essential to determine how the root system can mitigate abiotic stress. Modern methodologies to quantify root system architecture are presented. Finally, we describe root-specific tolerance mechanisms to abiotic stress and explain how this information can be used to direct breeding programs and decide on agronomic practices that support sustainable rapeseed/ canola production now and under future climate change scenarios.

1. INTRODUCTION

Rapeseed (*Brassica* species) has been grown to produce edible and nonedible oils for thousands of years (Canola Council of Canada, 2013). *Brassica juncea, Brassica napus*, and *Brassica rapa* are the three main species used for edible oil production (McVetty and Duncan, 2015). Global production of rapeseed/canola has expanded rapidly in the past 60 years, and rapeseed is now the second largest oilseed crop after soybean, with over 22.7 million tonnes of canola/rapeseed oil produced annually (FAO, 2016, Fig. 1). Different *Brassica* oilseed species are grown in or adapted to climate zones of the world. *B. napus* is mainly grown in cooler temperate regions, such as Australia, Europe, Canada, and northern China, whereas *B. juncea* and *B. rapa* are produced in warmer regions, including India and northwest China (McVetty and Duncan, 2015).

Canada is the leading producer of canola in the world, followed by China and India (Fig. 2). The name of canola came from "Can" (for Canada) and "ola" (for oil low acid); it is distinguished from the conventional rapeseed by low erucic acid content in the oil (<2%) and low glucosinolate concentration (<30 µmol/g) in the meal (Stefansson and Downey, 1995). Canola was developed by Canadian plant breeders in the mid-1970s as a new crop for healthy human oil and nutritious animal feed, using traditional plant breeding techniques. By the mid-2010s, canola accounted for 13%-16% of the world's vegetable oil production and contributed to the rural economy in many regions of North America. For example, canola has become the largest field crop in Canada, with more than 8 million ha of harvested area (Canola Council of Canada, 2017) valued at \$26 billion in Canadian dollars. The edible and industrial oils derived from canola are in demand due to their high oil content, and the high-protein meal remaining after the oil extraction process is sold as an animal feed supplement. Canola germinates at soil temperature as low as at \geq 5°C and early growth occurs at cooler temperatures, resulting in widespread adoption of this oilseed in cropping systems of temperate climatic zones (Booth and Gunstone, 2004; McVetty and Duncan, 2015).

Although *Brassica* oilseed production and acreage in the world have been increasing steadily, questions remain about the ability of rapeseed/canola production to keep pace with the edible oil demands of the growing global population of 9.1 billion by 2050 (Tilman et al., 2002; Wu and Ma, 2015; FAO, 2007, 2016, Fig. 1). In addition, *Brassica* crops are susceptible to abiotic stresses and ongoing climate change threatens rapeseed/canola production in many parts of the world (Lobell and Gourdji, 2012). Of particular concern for rapeseed/canola crops is more frequent heat stress, drought stress, and a combination of heat and drought stresses that are predicted in the foreseeable future (IPCC, 2007), and which are the dominant environment-induced abiotic stressors linked to catastrophic loss of crop



Figure 1 Temporal changes in harvested area, total production, and average yield of oilseed from rapeseed/canola crop from 1961 to 2014. *Data available: http://faostat.fao.org/site/626/default.aspx.*

productivity (Tilman et al., 2002; Ma and Zheng, 2016; Wu and Ma, 2016; Wu et al., 2017). For instance, a temperature increase of 3–4°C could lead to a crop yield loss of 15%–35% in Africa and Asia, and 25%–35% in the Middle East (Ortiz et al., 2008). Similarly, the estimated economically



Figure 2 Global production of rapeseed/canola crops from top-producing countries in 2014. *Data available: http://faostat.fao.org/site/626/default.aspx*.

agricultural losses by drought stress could be \$50 billion, and drought in combination with heat stress could result in economic losses of \$200 billion in overall agricultural production (Suzuki et al., 2014). Genetic improvement of *Brassica* oilseeds to withstand abiotic stress, leading to the development of climate-adapted cultivars, has become a major focus of rapeseed/ canola breeding programs worldwide (Fischer and Edmeades, 2010).

Plants exhibit tolerance, avoidance, or escape abiotic stress through acclimation mechanisms that evolved with natural selection or by purposeful selection in agricultural breeding programs (Levitt, 1980; Chaves et al., 2003; Reddy et al., 2004; Li et al., 2017). At the molecular level, plants express or repress genes when they experience heat and drought stresses, initiating a cascade of biochemical, physiological, and morphological responses that increase their probability of surviving the stress (Ding et al., 2009; Seo et al., 2012; Augustine et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2016). Hundreds of genes, proteins, quantitative trait loci (QTLs), and microRNA are known to modulate the heat and drought responses and tolerance in *Brassica* species or other important crops, and these were discovered by genetic, genomic, and molecular methods (Lu et al., 2008; Fletcher et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016; ArifUzZaman et al., 2017).



Figure 3 Illustration of heat and drought responses with primary affects and signal transduction, and overview of global approach to improve the stress tolerance with manipulation of root system architecture in rapeseed/canola. Transcription factors (TFs) refer to transcription factors. *ROS*, reactive oxygen species; *QTL*, quantitative trait loci.

Most expression products of stress-responsive genes are proteins involved in signal transduction and transcriptional regulation that ensure cellular integrity and proper functioning, such as protein kinase and transcription factors (TFs) (Sato et al., 2014; Ohama et al., 2017, Fig. 3). Other important expression products include diverse stress-responsive functional proteins that maintain the cellular membrane by osmotic adjustment and scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS), as well as late embryogenesis abundant proteins (Singh and Jwa, 2013; Kaur and Asthir, 2017). TFs have received the most attention for their ability to alleviate heat and drought stresses. For example, the heat-shock TF a1s (HsfA1) genes have been regarded as "master regulators" in transcriptional networks and have a critical role in regulation of heat- and drought-responsive TFs, especially for dehydrationresponsive element-binding protein 2A (DREB2A), a well-known TF (Sakuma et al., 2006a, 2006b; Yoshida et al., 2011, Table 1). Many QTLs related to heat and drought stresses have been mapped (Hu and Xiong, 2014), but only a few have been cloned and verified. The QTL deeper rooting 1 (DRO1) on chromosome 9 in rice controls root growth angle, and is the first root QTL cloned in crops that has potential for drought and heat avoidance (Uga et al., 2011, 2013). MicroRNA emerges as another important regulator of plant development and plant stress responses (Zhang and Wang, 2015). The direct link between microRNA and plant tolerance to heat and drought stresses was established with the identification of micro-RNA398, which targets the Cu/Zn superoxide dismutases (SODs) through hormone regulations and signal transduction processes (Sunkar et al., 2012; Guan et al., 2013), whereas the microR169 and microR394 perform similar functions in Brassica species and Arabidopsis (Song et al., 2013; Bhardwaj et al., 2014). Overall, the key drought- and heat-responsive genes/ molecules mentioned above are instrumental in guiding plant responses to abiotic stresses, such as through altering plant phenology (e.g., flowering time adjustment), canopy structure (temperature adjustment within canopy), water transport activity (aquaporin function modification), and root system architecture (RSA) (e.g., deep rooting, more branching, or different angle of lateral roots) in response to environmental conditions (Franco-Zorrilla et al., 2014; Mallory et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016a; Shriram et al., 2016).

Roots anchor the plant and are responsible for water and nutrient acquisition from soil, which is essential for plant survival and productivity. We now understand that abiotic stress affects roots more than aboveground components, as roots are the primary organs to exhibit specific cell defense responses to drought and other stressors (Hashimoto et al., 2004; Jeong et al., 2010). For instance, drought stress is first detected in the root tissue and results in the exchange of hydraulic and nonhydraulic response signals between roots and shoots (Comstock, 2002; Jiang and Hartung, 2008). The subsequent abscisic acid (ABA) regulation through the xylem sap is responsible for triggering stomatal closure, which allows plants to tolerate heat and drought stresses (Comstock, 2002). RSA, defined as the spatial and temporal configuration and structure of a plant root system in the soil (De Dorlodot et al., 2007), regulates soil water uptake (Osmont et al., 2007; Aroca et al., 2012; Lynch, 2013). For instance, field and lab studies illustrate that a deep root system provides more heat and drought tolerance

Gene Family	Gene	Donor	Acceptor	Enhanced Tolerance	References
AREB/ABF	AREB1/AREB2/ ABF3	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Drought	Yoshida et al. (2015)
AP2/ERFBP	VrDREB2A	Vigna radiata	Arabidopsis	Drought	Chen et al. (2016b)
	LcDREB3a	Leymus chinensis	Arabidopsis	Drought	Peng et al. (2013)
	JERF3	Solanum lycopersicum	Oryza sativa	Drought	Zhang et al. (2010)
	OsERF4a	O. sativa	O. sativa	Drought	Joo et al. (2013)
	AtDREB1A	Arabidopsis	O. sativa	Drought	Ravikumar et al. (2014)
	EaDREB2	Erianthus arundinaceus	Sugarcane	Drought	Augustine et al. (2015)
МҮВ	BnaMYB78	Arabidopsis	Brassica napus	Heat and drought; modulates reactive oxygen species (ROS) —dependent cell death	Chen et al. (2016a)
	AtMYB15	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Drought	Ding et al. (2009)
	GmMYBJ1	Glycine max	Arabidopsis	Drought	Su et al. (2014)
	TaMYB3R1	Triticum aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Cai et al. (2015)
	LeAN2	Lycopersicum esculentum	Solanum lycopersicum	Heat	Meng et al. (2015)
	AtMYB44	Arabidopsis	G. max	Drought	Seo et al. (2012)
WRKY	BnaWRKY147/ 166/210	B. napus	B. napus	Drought and low temperature	He et al. (2016b)
	TaWRKY79	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Qin et al. (2013)
	GsWRKY20	Glycine soja	Arabidopsis	Drought	Luo et al. (2013)
	MtWRKY76	Medicago truncatula	M. truncatula	Drought	Liu et al. (2016)
	TaWRKY1/ TaWRKY33	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought; heat	He et al. (2016a)

Table 1 Major Transcription Factor Gene Families Expressed in Plants Exposed to Heat and Drought Stresses

NAC	NAC 14	Sinapis alba	Brassica juncea	Drought	Phukan et al. (2016)
	NAC 19	B. juncea	B. juncea	Drought	Phukan et al. (2016)
	NAC 55	B. napus	B. napus	Heat and drought; modulating ROS accumulation and cell death	Niu et al. (2016)
	NAC09	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat	Guan et al. (2014)
	ZmSNAC1	Zea mays	Arabidopsis	Drought	Lu et al. (2012)
	TaNAC67	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Mao et al. (2014)
	TaNAC29	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Huang et al. (2015)
	SNAC1	O. sativa	T. aestivum	Drought	Saad et al. (2013)
	OsNAP	O. sativa	O. sativa	Drought	Chen et al. (2014)
bZIP	Bol008071/ Bol033132/ Bol042729	Brassica oleracea	B. oleracea	Temperature	Hwang et al. (2016)
	ZnbZIP17	Z. mays	Z. mays	Heat	Jia et al. (2009)
	OsAREB1	O. sativa	Arabidopsis	Heat	Jin et al. (2010)
	OsbZIP16	O. sativa	O. sativa	Drought	Chen et al. (2012)
	ZmbZIP72	Z. mays	Arabidopsis	Drought	Ying et al. (2012)
	TabZIP60	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Zhang et al. (2015b)
	OsbZIP71	O. sativa	O. sativa	Drought	Liu et al. (2014)
	OsTZF1	O. sativa	O. sativa	Drought; stress —responsive genes	Jan et al. (2013)
Zinc finger	TaMYB33	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Drought	Qin et al. (2012)
proteins	TaPIMP1	T. aestivum	Nicotiana tabacum	Drought	Liu et al. (2011)
	Several HSF/HSP transcripts and heat-related marker genes	B. napus	B. napus	Heat-responsive gene	Yu et al. (2014)

(Continued)

95

Gene Family	Gene	Donor	Acceptor	Enhanced Tolerance	References
HSF/HSP or other protein	Several heat-shock proteins and some CWM genes	Brassica rapa	B. rapa	Heat-responsive gene	Yang et al. (2006)
	HSP21	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein; interacts with pTAC5	Zhong et al. (2013)
	HsfA1	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein; enhances heat stress —induced gene expression	Yoshida et al. (2011)
	DREB2A	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Enhance heat stress —induced gene expression; interacts with NF—Y subunits	Sato et al. (2014)
	HsfA3	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein	Schramm et al. (2008)
	HsfA2	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein	Liu et al.(2013)
	HsfB1/HsfB2b	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein	Ikeda et al. (2011)
	MBF1	Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis	Heat-shock protein	Suzuki et al. (2011)
	LIHSFA1	Lilium longiflorum	Arabidopsis	Heat; interacts with LIHSFA2	Gong et al. (2014)
	TaHSF3	T. aestivum	Arabidopsis	Heat	Zhang et al. (2013)
	CarHSFB2	Cicer arietinum	Arabidopsis	Heat	Ma et al. (2016b)

Table 1 M	ajor Transcription	Factor Gene Families	Expressed in Plants	Exposed to Heat a	nd Drought Stresses—cont'd
-----------	--------------------	----------------------	---------------------	-------------------	----------------------------

to rice than a shallow root system (Uga et al., 2011, 2013; Arai–Sanoh et al., 2014). Therefore, RSA must be described to understand rapeseed/canola responses to abiotic stresses (Lynch, 2013; Wu and Ma, 2018).

Despite the mounting evidence that roots are an early-detection system of heat and drought stresses, RSA was ignored by rapeseed/canola breeders and agronomists who focused on selection for high-yielding varieties and disease resistance outcomes (Wu and Ma, 2016). This is largely because roots are intrinsically complex tissues that are inherently difficult to characterize in terms of morphology and functionality within the edaphic environment, and the contribution of RSA to yield is poorly documented compared to the established relationships between aboveground plant parts and yield (de Dorlodot et al., 2007). However, RSA modification has the potential to simultaneously improve crop productivity and crop tolerance to abiotic stresses (Garnett et al., 2009; Bellini et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015) and technical advances now make it possible to quantify root structure in a nondestructive manner and examine root functions in situ (Frasier et al., 2016; Postic and Claude, 2016; van Dusschoten et al., 2016; Rogers et al., 2016; Wu and Ma, 2018). Still, there remain major research gaps regarding the phenotypic characteristics that reflect a good RSA for climate-adapted cultivars of rapeseed/canola, which need to be defined before root-based knowledge can be integrated into future breeding programs.

This review will (1) summarize the genetic basis of drought and heat tolerance mechanisms of rapeseed/canola from the molecular level to the whole plant and agroecosystem scales (Section 2), (2) present modern methodologies for describing RSA and evaluating root functions in situ, thereby revealing root-specific tolerance mechanisms to abiotic stress (Section 3), and (3) discuss how RSA can be used to direct breeding programs and guide the adoption of agronomic technologies to support sustainable rapeseed/canola production now and under future climate change scenarios (Section 4).

2. HEAT AND DROUGHT AS ENVIRONMENT-INDUCED ABIOTIC STRESSORS

2.1 Definition of Abiotic Stress

Abiotic stress is defined as the negative impact of nonliving factors on organisms in a specific environment. In the agronomic sciences, this generally refers to the environment conditions that adversely affect cellular homeostasis and therefore suppress plant growth and productivity (Mickelbart et al., 2015). Abiotic stress is unavoidable for field crop plants because their growth depends on fitness and adaptation to variable environmental conditions, which may be in the favorable range for the crop at certain growth stages or suboptimal for crop performance (Lavirf, 1972). The fluctuations in weather and atmospheric environments that control temperature, moisture, solar radiation, wind, and other abiotic stressors must be considered in relationship to the developmental growth stage of the plant because phenology determines the plant's susceptibility to the stress.

In general, plants exposed to a specific abiotic stress during early growth stages will suffer from slow growth because the stress restricts cell division and expansion; however, early stressors may cause a negligible reduction in seed yield (Lavirf, 1972). When an abiotic stress occurs during the reproductive stages, it can reduce the crop productivity tremendously (Barnabás et al., 2008). Meanwhile, plants can overcome a variety of abiotic stresses through their plasticity in cellular metabolism and physiological adaptations (Zandalinas et al., 2017). For instance, plants will reestablish cellular and organismal homeostasis or reduce episodic shock effects in response to stress recognition (Mickelbart et al., 2015). As a cool-season crop (Ma et al., 2016a), canola, or oilseed rape encounters numerous abiotic stresses, such as cold and hot temperatures, drought and flooding, soil compaction, nutrient deficiencies, salinity, acidity, and so on. Among these, heat and drought stresses are considered the two major environment-induced abiotic stresses that have the greatest impact on crop production.

2.1.1 Heat Stress

Globally, the mean temperature is projected to increase by $1-4^{\circ}$ C by the end of the 21st century (IPCC, 2007; Lobell and Gourdji, 2012). Thus, heat stress is increasingly a concern for crop production, particularly due to the fact that heat stress will create additional variation in regional and seasonal growing conditions, and is expected to cause more pronounced temperature alteration at higher latitudes (IPCC, 2007). In Canada, the rising global temperature is expected to have a significant, positive effect on canola crop productivity. Predicted temperature scenarios would alleviate low-temperature growth inhibition, especially at the seedling and early growth stages. It may extend the growing season or increase the number of cropping cycles per year (Jing et al., 2017). Overall, higher temperatures could benefit crop production in Canada because it could permit the expansion of soybean and corn production in Manitoba and extend canola production into the northern Prairie and other regions where it is not traditionally grown. Globally, increasing temperature is expected to expand the land area suitable for rapeseed/canola production in the Russian Federation, North America and northern Europe, and East Asia, where sowing dates and seedling establishment are currently limited by too-cold spring temperatures (Lotze—Campen and Schellnhuber, 2009). However, these possibilities depend on other climate conditions besides temperature, and future climate scenarios suggest that uneven distribution of precipitation coupled with more frequent drought and flooding events may negate the potential benefits for crops on regional or national scales.

A number of recent reviews discuss how heat stress affects crop plants in terms of their phenology, physiology, genetics, and molecular biology (Bita and Gerats, 2013; Bokszczanin et al., 2013; Jha et al., 2014; Mickelbart et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016a). In summary, heat stress induces changes in photosynthesis and other metabolic pathways that reduce the cumulative solar radiation interception and carbon assimilation during the plant's life cycle. In addition, it may cause significant oxidative damage to cell structures and reduce overall metabolic efficiency (caused by heatinduced imbalance of photosynthesis, respiration, and carbon assimilation processes), due to the excessive production of ROS in stressed plants and lower antioxidant enzyme activity (Stone, 2001; Reddy et al., 2004; Barnabás et al., 2008). More importantly, heat stress affects TFs and heatshock proteins (HSPs), and the regulation of other stress-related proteins/ genes involved in protein biosynthesis, signaling, and metabolism (Schramm et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2013; Guan et al., 2014; Sato et al., 2014). We will discuss recent developments on these plant responses to heat stress later in this section.

Plants rely on a variety of life cycle, biological, and physiological strategies to cope with heat stress as part of their natural acclimation process (Pillai et al., 2012). Crops can escape or resist heat stress through two mechanisms: stress avoidance and stress tolerance (Li et al., 2017). Some of the escape mechanism are leaf rolling, leaf glaucousness (Li et al., 2014), and early flowering (Lou et al., 2007; Mei et al., 2009; Fletcher et al., 2015; Mo et al., 2016). For instance, annual crops could flower and set seed before the onset of heat stress to avoid pollen sterility at critical flowering stage (Young et al., 2004; Morrison et al., 2016). The consequence of early flowering and seed formation is a shorter life cycle, which typically results in lower yield potential of the stressed crop compared with the one that flowered at the normal growth stage in a favorable environment. The resistance mechanism may involve avoidance or tolerance of the heat stress. Rapeseed/canola plants are able to avoid stress because their indeterminate growth habit and long duration of flowering. This permits the plants to abort some flowers when exposed to heat stress and maintain pollen viability and dehiscence synchronized with stigma receptivity for successful fertilization when heat stress diminished during reproductive growth stages (Bueckert and Clarke, 2013; McVetty and Duncan, 2015). Tolerance to stress is another form of resistance, such as when plants increase transpirational cooling to reduce leaf surface temperature, but this requires greater water consumption (Borrell et al., 2014a). Another tolerance strategy is the physiological response to heat stress, such as the energetically demanding alteration of metabolic pathways or increase in membrane stability (Al-Whaibi, 2011; Yu et al., 2014; Guo et al., 2016). Although the avoidance and tolerance strategies will ensure plant survival when faced with heat stress, it is certain that heat stress events of longer duration or that occur during reproductive growth stages will reduce yield substantially (Stone, 2001; Ortiz et al., 2008).

2.1.2 Drought Stress

Drought is the most important abiotic stress that impairs crop growth and limits yield in rain-fed agricultural system or arid and semiarid regions (Barnabás et al., 2008). Rapeseed/canola is highly sensitive to drought stress, and global climate changes that cause severe and prolonged drought in some parts of the world are expected to reduce rapeseed/canola productivity (Tesfamariam et al., 2010). Plant response to drought stress is complex and involves a myriad of physiological, biochemical, cellular, and molecular changes aimed at ensuring plant survival and reproduction (Sakuma et al., 2006a). At the physiological level, drought response leads to changes in leaf turgor, respiration, transpiration, chlorophyll fluorescence, and osmotic adjustment, which together reduce the stomatal conductance and photosynthesis (Lawlor and Tezara, 2009; Zandalinas et al., 2017). At the biochemical level, accumulation of stress metabolites and protein synthesis could preserve cell homeostasis, such as through regulating ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase and ABA, or other metabolites, including glutathione, betaine, proline, raffinose, and galactinol (Barnabás et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2016c). In addition, cellular integrity is protected when ROS is scavenged by defense- and detoxification-related enzymes such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione reductase, and peroxidase (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008). On a molecular level, several drought-inducible proteins are responsible for regulating cellular activities that underlie adaptive responses, including functional proteins such as chaperones, HSPs, and mRNA-binding proteins, regulatory proteins such as TFs, protein kinases, and other signal-related proteins (Al–Whaibi, 2011; Augustine et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016b; Phukan et al., 2016).

Drought-survival mechanisms of plants are similar to those used to combat heat stress, described above, and are categorized as drought stress escape, avoidance, and tolerance (Chaves et al., 2003; Reddy et al., 2004; Li et al., 2014; Kooyers et al., 2015). The most effective strategy for an annual crop to cope with water deficiency is to escape from drought, through shortening the growth period, increasing the growth rate or storing more reserves for seed production before the onset of stress (Chaves et al., 2003; Fletcher et al., 2015). The alternative strategy is stress avoidance by maintaining the plant's water status or conserving water during the drought. Plants exhibit a number of adaptations that reduce water loss (e.g., stomatal closure, leaf rolling, and leaf area reduction) and increase water uptake, such as by promoting deep root growth (Reddy et al., 2004; Aroca et al., 2012; Borrell et al., 2014b). When drought stress is mild to moderate, the escape and avoidance strategies may be the most effective to ensure survival and reproduction, depending on the seasonal context and life history strategy of the plant (Kooyers et al., 2015). Once drought stress becomes severe, the crop must rely on tolerance strategies to avoid desiccation, which involve energetically demanding processes such as osmotic adjustment and ROS scavenging (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008). These processes depend on the plant's ability to modulate certain genes, microRNAs, phytohormones, and proteins (Kwon et al., 2016; Shriram et al., 2016; Ohama et al., 2017), which will be discussed in the following section.

2.1.3 Combined Heat and Drought Stresses

Heat and drought stresses often occur in combination or in succession (for example, drought followed by heat stress), resulting in severe damage to plants (Suzuki et al., 2014). Combined heat and drought stress is becoming common in many agricultural regions around the world, with more catastrophic impact on crop productivity than heat stress or drought stress alone (Wang and Huang, 2004). Unfortunately, plant responses to combined heat and drought stress cannot be predicted directly by studying plant performance when heat and drought stresses were applied separately (Rizhsky et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2014). For example, plants are unable to reduce leaf temperature through transpiration, to alleviate heat stress, because stomata must remain closed to conserve water when combined heat and

drought stresses occur (Rizhsky et al., 2002; Barnabás et al., 2008). Plant molecular responses to combined heat and drought stresses also differ from single stresses (Suzuki, 2016; Zandalinas et al., 2017). For instance, Rasmussen et al. (2013) suggested that approximate 61% of the transcriptome changes in response to combined heat and drought stresses could not be predicted from the responses to one of these stressors. One of the TFs, DREB2A, appears to control the crosstalk between heat- and drought stress-response pathways, which implies that a cascade of TFs may enable plants to tolerate heat and drought stresses simultaneously (Sakuma et al., 2006b). However, the specific molecular mechanisms responsible for plant tolerance to the combined heat and drought stresses remain unclear and deserve further investigation (Suzuki et al., 2014). In summary, crops with enhanced tolerance to combined heat and drought stresses are needed to maintain yield in the more stressful growing conditions that are predicted in future climate change scenarios (Rizhsky et al., 2004; Barnabás et al., 2008; Zandalinas et al., 2017).

2.2 Critical Growth Stages and Intensity of Abiotic Stress

During the life cycle of a rapeseed/canola crop, the timing, intensity, and duration of heat and drought stresses will determine the impact on crop growth and productivity (Canola Council of Canada, 2016). Heat and drought stresses during the early vegetative stages can suppress leaf area because leaf expansion slows, photosynthetic ability is reduced, and leaf senescence accelerates (Wu et al., 2017). The reduction in leaf area will further impede photosynthesis and consequently there is less carbon assimilated for tissue production at meristems and pod filling. In the end, stressed rapeseed/canola has less branching and fewer pods set (Morrison and Stewart, 2002). However, stress-induced damage such as leaf area suppression in the early vegetative stages can be recovered in rapeseed if the plant has the opportunity to produce new leaves, without any yield penalty (Tesfamariam et al., 2010). The period from flowering to the early and middle phases of pod filling is the most critical and sensitive growth stage for a rapeseed/canola plant exposed to heat and drought stresses (Ahmadi and Bahrani, 2009; Pillai et al., 2012). It is impossible for rapeseed/canola to escape or recover when heat or drought stress occurs during flowering stage because drought and heat (above 28°C) stress interferes with sexual reproduction and subsequent grain filling, often resulting in a sink limitation with pod abortion (Morrison, 1993; Young et al., 2004; Ghobadi et al., 2006). Yield loss from heat or drought stresses that occurred at flowering or shortly after flowering were affected by the intensity and duration of the stresses and other yield-limiting factors such as disease and pest pressure. Consequently, up to 70% of the yield loss in rapeseed/canola was attributed to heat and drought stresses (Wu and Ma, 2018).

In general, the cool-season rapeseed/canola crop grown in temperate zones is more sensitive to heat stress than warm-season crops grown in tropical regions. It appears that canola is most sensitive to heat stress from late bud development to early seed formation. Temperatures higher than 29.5°C during these crop development stages resulted in significant yield loss in *B. napus, B. rapa, and B. juncea* (Morrison and Stewart, 2002). In a growth chamber study, Angadi et al. (2000) showed that exposing three *Brassica* species to a high-temperature regime of $35/15^{\circ}$ C (day/night) for 1 week during the flowering stage reduced seed yield by 89% on the main stem and by 52% on the whole plant, on average. Gan et al. (2004) evaluated seed yield of *B. juncea* and *B. napus* that were exposed to short periods (10 days) of high temperature ($35/18^{\circ}$ C) and moderate temperature ($28/18^{\circ}$ C) at different developmental stages. They reported yield losses of 15%, 58%, and 77% when severe stress was imposed at bud formation, flowering, and pod development, respectively.

Similar to heat stress, severe drought during flowering or reproduction stages could shorten the reproductive growth period and result in large yield penalty (Chaves et al., 2003). Ghobadi et al. (2006) observed a 30% yield reduction due to water stress that occurred at flowering, compared with a 21% yield loss for drought at the silique developmental stage. These yield losses were attributed to a reduction in the silique number per plant and seed weight. Similarly, a yield penalty of about 30% was observed for a drought event that lasted from the flowering to pod formation stages (Ahmadi and Bahrani, 2009).

Heat and drought stresses occurring during the critical reproductive growth stages could influence seed oil and protein contents as well. For instance, drought stress at flowering stage was responsible for decreasing oil concentration by 0.39%–2.16%, equivalent to a 20%– 36% reduction in oil yield, but gave a significant increase in protein content (Ghobadi et al., 2006; Ahmadi and Bahrani, 2009; Ma and Herath, 2016). A high-temperature stress regime (28/23°C, day/night, with a peak of 38°C for 5 h at midday) of short duration (5 days, starting 25 days after flowering, DAF) can significantly reduce yield of the main branches by more than 52%, with concurrent reductions in seed weight and oil/protein ratio, although fatty acid composition was not affected (Aksouh–Harradj et al., 2006). In contrast, a moderate heat stress of 28/23°C for a longer duration (10 days) starting at 20 DAF had less impact on yield performance but altered the fatty acid profile significantly, with increased oleic acid and reduced linoleic and linolenic acid concentrations (Aksouh–Harradj et al., 2006). This suggests that high temperatures, even for short periods of time after flowering, can be more damaging to canola yield and oil content than moderate heat stress over a longer period of time during this critical developmental stage.

2.3 Pollen Longevity, Pollination, and Fertilization

As documented in the previous section, high-temperature stress has more impact on reproductive development than on vegetative growth, and the substantial decline in yield caused by heat stress is mainly associated with pollen abortion, and failure of pollination or fertilization (Young et al., 2004; Zinn et al., 2010). For instance, two B. napus varieties were found to be almost completely sterile when grown under high-temperature conditions (27:17°C, light/dark) during flowering (Morrison, 1993). It is of great interest to understand how heat stress affects pollen viability, pollen thermos-tolerance, and pollination (Grover et al., 2016; Morrison et al., 2016). In rapeseed/canola, heat stress reduces the number of floret and subsequent seed set per plant (Young et al., 2004; Prasad et al., 2006). Within a floret, anthers and pollen are more susceptible to heat stress than ovules. For instance, pollen fertility was reduced by 40% under high temperature (29/24°C, light/dark) than the control temperature (23/17°C) in a greenhouse study (Wu and Ma, unpublished data). Fahad et al. (2016) also found that heat stress significantly reduced pollen fertility, but plant growth regulators (PGRs) such as ascorbic acid, alpha-tocopherol, brassinosteroids, methyl jasmonates, and triazoles can increase pollen fertility under heat stress conditions.

Pollination ability is influenced by the anther dehiscence, shedding of pollens, germination of pollen grains on the stigma, and elongation of pollen tubes (Prasad et al., 2006; Jagadish et al., 2010; Fahad et al., 2016). Even if the pollen is fertile and able to germinate on the stigma, it may fail to form the fertilized ovule if pollen tubes fail to elongate enough that pollen nuclei reach the ovary. These steps of pollination are sensitive to heat stress (Chen and Fang, 2016). The delivery of pollen nuclei to the ovule is influenced by several factors, such as receptivity of the pistil, pollen deposition, immature ovules, abnormal anatomical development, or any combination of these

(Barnabás et al., 2008). Pollen tube elongation is affected indirectly by carbohydrate metabolism because starch is hydrolyzed into osmotically active sugars on pollen germination as a source of energy for pollination, and carbohydrate metabolism is influenced significantly by the plant's water balance (Stanley and Linskens, 1974; Müller and Rieu, 2016). This is another way that drought stress could impair pollination process and reduces seed set.

Fertilization efficiency, development of the endosperm, and embryo formation are also vulnerable to high-temperature stress (Stanley and Linskens, 1974; Müller and Rieu, 2016). Zahid et al. (2016) reported that extreme heat stress can lead to fertilization failure, due to the disturbed carbohydrate metabolism and reduced calcium levels. Although maternal tissues of the pistil and the female gametophyte are considered to be more thermostolerant than male organs, malformation of the female tissues can occur under extreme heat stress (Zinn et al., 2010). Final seed set or filled seed number is the true indicator of whether pollination and fertilization are successful. Yet, Labra et al. (2017) illustrated the trade-off between seed number and seed weight, where lower seed set was apparently compensated by an increase in seed weight, without compromising oil content, in oilseed rape subject to shading during flowering. Further investigation into the molecular mechanisms underlying the stress response exhibited during pollination and fertilization, particularly in the male reproductive organs (Jagadish et al., 2010), will be critical to select stress-tolerant varieties for future breeding programs.

2.4 Transcription Factor

Plants trigger a cascade of genes expression and TFs that provide molecular-level protection against abiotic stresses via transcriptional and/or translational regulation (Wang et al., 2016a, 2017; Shriram et al., 2016; Ohama et al., 2017). The TFs are of particular interest, since up to 10% of the genome potentially encodes TFs (Franco–Zorrilla et al., 2014), classified into several gene families: AREB/ABF, AP2/ERF, MYB, WRKY, NAC, bZIP (see Table 1 for recently identified TFs). Many TFs are identified to be involved in heat and drought stress responses, along with their underlying mechanisms (Joshi et al., 2016; Ohama et al., 2017). As TFs provide direct regulation of gene expression by serving as molecular switches, several recent reviews discussed the complex transcriptional regulation mechanisms involved in heat and drought stresses and explained how genetic engineering approaches could be integrated into plant breeding program (Hu and Xiong, 2014; Joshi et al., 2016; Guo et al., 2016; Ohama et al., 2017).

The TF profile in response to heat and drought stresses was investigated for Arabidopsis thaliana (Rizhsky et al., 2004; Sakuma et al., 2006a; Rasmussen et al., 2013; Gong et al., 2014), rice (Joo et al., 2013; Saad et al., 2013; Ravikumar et al., 2014), and maize (Ying et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2012). In rapeseed/canola, Chalhoub et al. (2014) reported the complete sequence of the polyploid B. napus that originated from recombination of two distinct genomes. Subsequently, several studies investigated drought-/heat-resistance genes and TFs in Brassica species (Yu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2015a; Chen et al., 2016a; He et al., 2016b; Hwang et al., 2016; Niu et al., 2016; Phukan et al., 2016). By combining differentially expressed genes (DEGs) detected by RNA sequencing with associated loci from genome-wide association studies, Zhang et al. (2015a) identified 79 candidate genes associated with drought response in B. napus, of which 8 genes are putatively related to drought tolerance based on the gene ontology of A. thaliana. Wang et al. (2017) also explored the transcriptomic basis for drought tolerance in B. napus. Among the 6440 reported DEGs, 169 crucial drought-responsive DEGs were found to be uniformly distributed among the 19 chromosome pairs. Crucial DEGs were downregulated in drought-resistant varieties but upregulated in droughtsensitive varieties under drought-prone conditions. He et al. (2016b) evaluated the expression of 26 BnaWRKY genes in *B. napus* under multiple stresses and noted that 3 of the BanWRKY genes (BnaWRKY147, BnaWRKY166, and BnaWRKY210) responded strongly to multiple stresses, indicating the multifunctional role of these genes in heat and drought tolerance. They suggested that the BanWRKY genes will be advantageous when breeding new varieties of B. napus. Niu et al. (2016) illustrated the similarity of BnaNAC55 in B. napus to ANAC055 in Arabidopsis and further characterized its involvement in ROS scavenging and defense-related gene expression in oilseed rape protoplasts. The TFs described above were involved in key physiological processes, such as biosynthesis of secondary metabolites, starch and sucrose metabolism, phenylpropanoid and zeatin biosynthesis, plant hormone signal transduction, ATP-binding cassette transporters, and oxidative phosphorylation pathways.

Heat stress transcription factors (HSFs) regulate a subset of heatresponsive genes including HSPs and other heat stress-induced transcripts that are responsible for basal thermotolerance (Al–Whaibi, 2011). All organisms possess HSFs that induce the transcription of these HSPs. The HSPs in plants are grouped into five classes, according to their approximate molecular weights: (1) Hsp100, (2) Hsp90, (3) Hsp70, (4) Hsp60, and (5) small HSPs (sHsps). First described in Arabidopsis, HSPs are well known to regulate protein quality because they can renature many proteins that were damaged by heat stress (Schramm et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2013). For instance, Zhong et al. (2013) showed that a small HSP, HSP21, was involved in repair to the plastid nucleoid protein (pTAC5 in Arabidopsis) responsible for chloroplast development under heat stress conditions. Under heat stress conditions, 7-day old seedlings of B. rapa showed significant accumulation of HSPs with time and an upregulation of cell wallmodification genes afterward, based on comparative transcriptional profiling analysis (Yang et al., 2006). During the reproductive stage of B. napus, Young et al. (2004) identified several HSPs transcripts that were induced primarily in the pollen and pistil tissues, rather than in leaves. This implies that modification of developing gametophytes could be an alternative strategy to improve heat stress tolerance in rapeseed/canola plants.

Recently, HsfA1 was suggested to be a "master regulator" for the activation of transcriptional networks in response to heat stress (Ohama et al., 2017). Knockdown or multiple knockout mutation of HsfA1 genes in Arabidopsis and tomato exhibited a suppression of many heat-responsive genes in sensitive phenotypes (Yoshida et al., 2011). Furthermore, HsfA1 may directly regulate the expression level of genes encoding heat-responsive TFs, such as DREB2A (Sato et al., 2014), HsfA3 (Schramm et al., 2008), HsfA2 (Liu et al., 2013), HSFB1/HSFB2b (Ikeda et al., 2011), and MBF1C (Suzuki et al., 2011). Among those heat-responsive TFs, the best known is DREB2A, which is induced by the AREB/ ABF TF families (e.g., AREB1, AREB2, ABF1, and ABF3I) and involved in posttranslational regulation (Sato et al., 2014; Ohama et al., 2017). DREB2A regulates a candidate protein that binds to the DRE sequence and therefore facilitates the crosstalk between heat and drought stress signaling (Ohama et al., 2017). Overexpression of DREB2A could enhance drought tolerance and regulate expression of many drought inducible genes in transgenic Arabidopsis plants, as demonstrated by microarray and RNA gel blot analyses (Sakuma et al., 2006b). Using a Brassica 95k EST microarray profiling technique, Yu et al. (2014) identified genes responsive to heat stress during grain filling stage and reported upregulation of many HSF/HSP transcripts and heat-related marker genes (ROF2, HSA32, DREB2A, MBF1C).

2.5 MicroRNA

A microRNA (abbreviated miRNA) is a small, noncoding, single-stranded RNA molecule involved in the posttranscriptional regulation of gene expression, critically important for plants to sustain and reestablish the cellular homeostasis when exposed to abiotic stresses (Sunkar et al., 2012). The functions of miRNAs have been investigated through miRNA cleavage, translational repression, chromatin remodeling, and DNA methylation techniques (Sunkar et al., 2012).

There is clear evidence for the involvement of miRNAs in heat and drought stress responses in plants (Zhang et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2013; Bhardwaj et al., 2014). A number of stress-related miRNA are considered good candidates for genetic manipulation to enhance abiotic stress tolerance in plant species such as cotton, corn, wheat, rice, potato, strawberry, and rapeseed (Xie et al., 2007; Shriram et al., 2016). For instance, miR169 plays a significant role in regulating drought stress in Arabidopsis plants, whereas miR394 is involved in the regulation of leaf curling responsiveness and its target gene encodes an F-box containing protein that responds to drought stress (Song et al., 2013). Another well-studied miRNA, miR172, appears to regulate the drought-induced transcriptional factor AP2 (Lauter et al., 2005). Similarly, miR319 and miR398 are involved in hormone regulation and signal transduction processes that provide thermotolerance in *Arabidopsis* (Guan et al., 2013) and protection against drought stress in tomato and transgenic creeping bentgrass (Zhang et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2013). Heat stress responses also involve miRNAs responsible for the regulation of several TFs (Guan et al., 2013; Stief et al., 2014; Ohama et al., 2017). For example, Guan et al. (2013) found that miR398 downregulated several ROSscavenging enzymes, leading to ROS accumulation and subsequent activation of the HsfA1 gene. In contrast, miR156 upregulated the expression of abiotic stress-inducible genes when plants were exposed to heat stress (Stief et al., 2014).

Most of the evidence of TFs and other molecular-level genes involvement in the abiotic stress response of plants comes from studies on aboveground tissues (leaves, stems, flowers). However, roots are an early-detection system of drought stress in particular because roots are responsible for water acquisition and in direct contact to the water-limited environment (de Dorlodot et al., 2007). We now know that several miRNAs control root development and have a role in plant tolerance to heat and drought stresses. For instance, overexpression of miR160 can downregulate the expression of auxin response factor (ARF) genes, ARF10 and ARF16, which control cell division and differentiation in the root distal region, leading to root tip defect and root abnormality in Arabidopsis plants (Wang et al., 2005). Mallory et al. (2005) also found that miR160 targeted at least three ARF genes and therefore it directly influenced the primary root growth and development. Similarly, overexpressing miR390 during the lateral root initiation stage can negatively regulate the expression of ARF2, ARF3 and ARF4, three well-known repressors for lateral root growth (Marin et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2010). In another study, miR160/167 was shown to trigger on or off posttranscriptional regulation genes, including ARF6, ARF8, and ARF17, and subsequently control adventitious root initiation and development in Arabidopsis (Gutierrez et al., 2009). Meanwhile, proteins produced by these three ARF genes also exerted a feedback on the expression of miR160 and miR167. Recently, MiR1514a was identified in root segments of common bean after drought stress (Sosa-Valencia et al., 2016). These authors also demonstrated the participation of miR1514a in the regulation of two NAC TFs (Phvul.010g121000 and Phvul.010g120700), and the production of small interfering RNAs (phasiRNAs) in response to drought stress.

Most knowledge of how miRNAs respond to abiotic stress comes from research in *Arabidopsis*. Computational methods indicate the presence of 21 miRNAs in *Brassica* species, representing most of the miRNAs known to be involved in plant growth and abiotic stress responses (Xie et al., 2007). With the help of UEA small RNA workbench software, Bhardwaj et al. (2014) identified 51 conserved and 126 novel miRNAs in *B. juncea*. This new information about miRNA sequences, their expression, and putative targets is highly relevant to develop crop improvement strategies in breeding programs for *B. juncea* and related species (Bhardwaj et al., 2014). These advanced bioinformatics tools, coupled with next-generation sequencing (NGS) technology, are sure to bring new opportunities for functional characterization of individual miRNA with potential for improving heat and drought tolerance in *Brassica* species.

2.6 Proteome Analysis

Proteomics is a useful approach to identify stress-responsive and tolerance genes and their pathways, through a comparative analysis of protein abundance between unstressed and stressed plants or between tolerance and susceptible genotypes (Koh et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016b). Protein abundance is likely to change in plants under drought stress or experiencing

combined heat and drought stresses because the production of ROS and other toxic compounds cause damage to essential proteins and reduce the activity of enzymes (Li et al., 2015). To counteract these deleterious effects, plants will trigger a cascade of protective molecular responses that encode for proteins that help the plant tolerate stress and maintain cellular homeostasis (Zadraznik et al., 2013). A number of stress-inducible proteins, such as mRNA-binding proteins, detoxification enzymes, and plastid proteins, are of particular importance for stress tolerance in multiple plant species, including *Arabidopsis*, rice, and barley (Ashoub et al., 2013; Singh and Jwa, 2013).

As heat stress affects the abundance of HSPs, which is detected in all cells that undergo proteomic profiling (Feder and Hofmann, 1999; Wang et al., 2004; Zhong et al., 2013). HSPs have chaperonic activities and act as intracellular reservoirs for intermediates of denatured proteins undergoing repair to ensure normal folding or by helping to refold proteins that were damaged by stress (Feder and Hofmann, 1999). HSPs also protect cellular metabolism through protein aggregation (Wang et al., 2004). A combined increase in HSPs with Ca²⁺ signaling proteins enhanced heat tolerance in rice, through efficient protein modification and repair (Shi et al., 2013). The importance of HSPs for maintaining protein integrity and functions with cells of rapeseed/canola under heat stress is poorly documented and requires further investigation.

Roots are sensitive to heat stress and have a low optimal growth temperature, relative to shoots (Trinidad et al., 2016). Significant declines in root growth and associated physiological functions are often noted in root tissues of plants with a low root/shoot ratio under temperature stress (Wu et al., 2017). Root-specific expressed proteins respond to heat stress, such as an A20/AN10 type zinc finger protein ZFP177 that was found at the cytoplast of the root segment (Huang et al., 2008). Overexpression of ZFP177 protein in transgenic plants provides further evidence that this protein is involved in plant tolerance to heat stress. Tissue-specific protein expression patterns were also reported in soybean (Glycine max) seedlings, with a total of 54, 35, and 61 specifically expressed proteins in leaves, stems, and roots after heat treatment (Ahsan et al., 2010). Root-specific proteins, particularly those associated with secondary metabolism, were mostly downregulated, whereas aboveground-specific proteins, such as chaperonin 60 and ChsHSPs, were mostly upregulated in leaves and stems. Other functions of heat-responsive proteins in roots are root elongation, signal transduction, cell growth, and ROS detoxification (Trinidad et al., 2016).

Using shotgun proteomic analysis, 3009 nonredundant proteins were identified in B. rapa (Kwon et al., 2016). Of these, 440 proteins were differentially expressed following drought stress. Kwon et al. (2016) noted that drought stress increased the level of proteins involved in catabolic processes, osmotic stress responses, and antioxidant activities but reduced the level of proteins associated with photosynthesis. Genes that encode for five differentially expressed proteins are recommended targets for future efforts to enhance drought tolerance in B. rapa and include phospholipase D delta, annexin, sDNA-binding transcriptional regulator, TRAF-like family protein, and the auxin-responsive GH3 family protein. A study testing the response of rapeseed to salinity stress displayed 75 proteins that were differentially expressed and most were involved in photosynthesis, oxidative stress responses, and energy production (Bandehagh et al., 2011). Wang et al. (2016b) also identified 138 differentially abundant proteins (DAPs) in B. napus, and 9 of the DAPs were considered drought-responsive phosphoproteins involved in signal transduction, photosynthesis and glutathioneascorbate metabolism. The Tyr207 phosphorylated site of beta carbonic anhydrase 1 (β CA1) was the most likely phosphorylation target that could regulate enzyme activity; therefore phosphorylation of βCA1 may be a critical regulator of photosynthesis in canola under drought stress (Wang et al., 2016b). Similarly, Koh et al. (2015) indicate that drought stress increases protein diversity and function due to posttranslational modifications. Further research on the crosstalk between protein expression and posttranslational modifications may lead to a deeper understanding of the proteomic-level influence on rapeseed/canola tolerance to abiotic stresses.

Roots are the most sensitive tissues that first perceive dehydration once the plant is in a water deficit (Comstock, 2002). This is confirmed by the root-specific expression of drought-responsive gene encoding proteins (such as OsNAC10; Jeong et al., 2010), which are common in maize (22 root-specific expressed proteins; Hu et al., 2011) and wheat (34 rootspecific differentially expressed proteins; Peng et al., 2009) grown under drought conditions. In rice, a novel protein RSOsPR10 was identified to be root-specific expression via the jasmonic acid signaling pathway (Hashimoto et al., 2004). In a study examining drought stress on *B. rapa* plants, Mohammadi et al. (2012) extracted proteins from roots and suggested that HSP90, a V-type H⁺ ATPase and cation-binding protein, played an important role in drought tolerance. Understanding the functions of proteins that respond to abiotic stresses, as well as the tissue-specific protein expression in response to heat and drought stresses, should point to adaptive mechanisms and tissue-specific defense strategies at the proteome level that could lead to the selection of stress-tolerant phenotypes in breeding programs (Salekdeh et al., 2007).

2.7 Regulation of Phytohormones

Stress-induced processes at the cell, tissue, and whole-plant levels are regulated by PGRs, also known as phytohormones (Maestri et al., 2002). Recent studies showed that phytohormones, such as ABA, salicylic acid (SA), and ethylene, may be important metabolic engineering targets for designing abiotic stress-tolerant crop plants, as they are directly related to stress tolerance (Wani et al., 2016), whereas gibberellins increase susceptibility to stress (Maestri et al., 2002). ABA has two important functions in plants under heat and drought stresses: regulating water status to protect cell systems and inducing genes that encode dehydration tolerant proteins or HSPs (Clarke et al., 2004). As well ABA is linked to ROS signaling and related crosstalk affecting several signal transduction pathways that trigger the expression of stress-responsive genes related to accumulation of osmoprotectants, antioxidants, and ROS scavengers. These metabolic processes may also protect the plants from being damaged by the abiotic stress (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008; Hu and Xiong, 2014). The importance of ABA was confirmed in Arabidopsis, where survival of ABA signaling mutant (abi1/abi2) was reduced significantly after heat stress treatment (Larkindale et al., 2005).

Several phytohormones were confirmed to be associated with root initiation, elongation, and development (Osmont et al., 2007; Yamada and Sawa, 2013). Auxin controls almost all of the cellular processes that occur during root apical cell differentiation and elongation (Vieten et al., 2007). This is because auxin regulates the interaction of transport inhibitor response I/auxin F box protein and Aux/IAA proteins (Dharmasiri et al., 2005). In addition, auxin is responsible for the degradation of the Aux/IAA proteins by proteasome (Khan et al., 2011). This is thought to release the auxin response transcription factors (ARFs) that regulate the expression of auxin-responsive genes that control root development by determining the length and angle of the lateral roots (Guilfoyle and Hagen, 2007). As a key phytohormone in roots (Zhang and Wang, 2015), auxin also participates in crosstalk with cytokine and gibberellins to modulate other aspects of root development (Yamada and Sawa, 2013). For instance, IAA can be transported to the root tip with the help of ABA modulation to activate the plasma membrane H^+ -ATPase (Xu et al., 2013). The coordination between IAA and ABA has a significant impact on root elongation and root hair development in response to abiotic stress, especially heat stress (Xu et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2016c).

2.8 Reactive Oxygen Species

Although plants have developed strategies to adapt to heat, drought, and other abiotic stresses, overaccumulation of ROS under stressful conditions will inevitably result in oxidative damage to the cell (Suzuki et al., 2012). ROS, such as superoxide radical (O_2^-), hydroxyl radical (OH^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and oxygen-containing molecules, are commonly produced by cells under heat and drought stresses (Cruz de Carvalho, 2008; Sharma et al., 2012). ROS oxidizes multiple cellular components such as proteins, RNA, DNA, and membrane lipids. Consequently, plants with excess ROS show suppressed crop growth, reduced leaf photosynthesis, increased electrolyte leakage, and accelerated cell death and plant senescence (Mittler, 2002). Therefore, ROS production and scavenging processes need to be understood in the context of stress adaption in crops.

First, we need to understand the dual effects of ROS in plants under abiotic stress (Apel and Hirt, 2004). At relatively low levels, ROS act as important stress-signaling molecules that, in association with the stress acclimation pathway, trigger a series of defense responses (Suzuki et al., 2012; Ohama et al., 2017). Several enzymatic systems contribute to the overproduction of ROS, such as plasma membrane-associated respiratory burst oxidase homologs (Rboh) and NADPH oxidase. Meanwhile, some antioxidant enzymes, such as SOD, catalase, APX, glutathione peroxidases, and glutathione S-transferase can scavenge ROS, thereby controlling ROS levels and maintaining ROS homeostasis (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Sharma et al., 2012). This is important because high levels of ROS cause damage to cell membranes and other cellular components and eventually lead to cell death (Sharma et al., 2012). Recent studies suggest that ROS signaling transduction is associated with protein phosphorylation involving the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade (Li et al., 2015; Raja et al., 2017). The MAPK pathways are probably the most important signaling components, downstream of second messengers and phytohormones (Raja et al., 2017). Several MAPK components were found to participate in ROS signaling and modulate homeostasis, such as MKK1-MPK6 and other MAPkinases (MAPKKKs)-ANP1 (Pitzschke and Hirt, 2009). In canola (B. napus), Sun et al. (2014) reported that 28 BnaMAPPKKK genes (including 2 novel kinases, MAPKKK18/19) were involved in

ROS signaling and cell death, whereas a follow-up study isolated a novel MAPKKK4 gene that elicits ROS accumulation and cause cell death (Li et al., 2015). Stress-adapted plants must tightly regulate the ROS level, allowing enough ROS production to turn on signaling pathways activated by ROS-responsive regulatory genes, while maintaining a threshold ROS level by inducing ROS-scavenging enzymes and antioxidant molecules (Apel and Hirt, 2004; Sharma et al., 2012).

2.9 Quantitative Trait Loci

QTL analysis is a statistical method that links a phenotypic trait with molecular markers. It aims to explain the genetic basis of variation in phenotypes (Miles and Wayne, 2008). QTL analysis is useful to bridge the gap between gene expression and phenotypic traits in plant breeding programs. Grain yields and the tolerance of crop plants to heat and drought stresses will likely be improved by the manipulation of QTLs that control heritable variability of key morphological traits and physiological processes (Collins et al., 2008). Genetic dissection of QTLs controlling the adaptive response of crops to heat and drought stresses is a promising and cost-effective application of genomic-based approaches to achieve a stable grain or oilseed yield under adverse conditions (Collins et al., 2008). To date, QTL applications have proven effective in Arabidopsis, as well as in cereals, and other crops (Hu and Xiong, 2014). Hundreds of QTLs were identified and shown to consistently mitigate the negative effects of heat and drought stresses (Hu and Xiong, 2014), and the QTLs that were identified for Brassica species subjected to these stresses, are summarized in Table 2.

Flowering is one of the most important agronomic traits, with wide variation, not only among *Brassica* genus but also within canola species (Mei et al., 2009). As a stress escape strategy, crops that can adjust their flowering time have a strategy to cope with heat and drought (Dechaine et al., 2014; Mo et al., 2016). In *Brassica* species, QTLs that control flowering time and therefore influence the crop productivity under heat or drought stress have been identified. For example, VFR1, VFR2, and VFR3 in *B. rapa*, DTF1 and DTF2 in *B. napus*, were reported to control flowering time (Lou et al., 2007; ArifUzZaman et al., 2017). ArifUzZaman et al. (2017) suggest that light-regulated WD1 and flowering BHLH 1 (FBH1) were two putative candidate genes for the expression of QTL DTF 1, located on chromosome C08 in *B. napus*. Other studies also suggested that CO, COL 1, and FLC were candidate flowering QTLs in *B. juncea*, *B. nigra*, *B. rapa*, and *B. oleracea* (Schranz et al., 2002).

QTL	Genomic Regions	Species	QTL Genetic Position	Genetic Position	R ² (%)	Candidate Genes	Gene Functions	References
NRV	A01	Brassica napus	130 cM	127.7— 143.1 сМ	16.3	GIP 1; SAUG- like family protein	Control root vigor; root system architecture	ArifUzZaman et al. (2017)
DTF1	C08	B. napus	24 cM	21.1– 26.8 cM	21.7	LŴD1; FBH1	Flowering time; might relate to heat and drought stress escape	ArifUzZaman et al. (2017)
DTF2	C04	B. napus	70 c M	69.8– 71.5 cM	15	TPR; PAB3; ATC	Flowering time; might relate to heat and drought stress escape	ArifUzZaman et al. (2017)
qTRT1/qTRT2/ qTRT3/ qTRT4a/ qTRT4b/ qTRT6/ qTRT9	LG1—4; LG6/9	B. rapa	3.5—19 сМ		83.5		Control taproot thickness	Lu et al. (2008)
qTRL2/qTRL3/ qTRL4/ qTRL7/qTRL9	LG2—4; LG7/9	B. rapa	3.0-9.0 cM		55.7		Control taproot length	Lu et al. (2008)

 Table 2
 Major Quantitative Trait Loci (QTL) Identified in Brassica Species That Are Involved in Heat and Drought Stress Responses

 Chr./

QTL	Genomic Regions	Species	QTL Genetic Position	Genetic Position	R ² (%)	Candidate Genes	Gene Functions	References
qTRW1/ qTRW2/ qTRW4/ qTRW5a/ qTRW5b/ qTRW9	LG1/2/4/ 5/9	B. rapa	4.0–12.0 cM		69.2		Control taproot weight	Lu et al. (2008)
YIdSens/Yid.dry/ YID.wet/ RFP.dry/ RPF.wet/ DTF.dry/ DTF.wet	A02/A03/ A10/ C02/C07	B. napus	refer to Fig. 3 of cited ref.			Flowering time gene CO, FY, FLC	Related to root pulling force (taproot mass), flowering time and yield, as well as drought sensitivity	Fletcher et al. (2015)
FLC1/2/3/5, Fta, Ftbc, FCA, VRN2, CO, MAF, LFY	R01-03/ R06 -08/ R10	B. rapa	Refer to Fig. 4 of cited ref.	Refer to Fig. 4		BrFLC2; BrFLC5; ATLFY; BrFLC1	Flowering time; might relate to the abiotic stress escape	Lou et al. (2007)
rrllb.2/rrl8.2/ rsdw9.1/ rrdw5.2 with total number of 19 QTLs	LG1-20	B. napus	Refer to Tables 3–4 of cited ref.	Refer to Tables 3 -4 of cited ref.	5.92— 17.44		Control root length, root dry weight, and shoot dry weight	Li et al. (2014)
ft13; ft17	LG13/17	B. napus	Refer to Fig. 2 of cited ref.		14.6— 30.4		Flowering time	Mei et al. (2009)

 Table 2 Major Quantitative Trait Loci (QTL) Identified in Brassica Species That Are Involved in Heat and Drought Stress Responses—cont'd Chr./

FQTL3-1/ GHQTL3-1/ GHQTL10-1	A 10	B. rapa	Refer to Table 2 of cited ref.		10.72/ 5.26/ 26.39	brFLC1	Related to days to bolting, seed germination and yield formation	Dechaine et al. (2014)
L_IPRL1/2/3/4	A1/A5/C4	B. napus	$\begin{array}{r} 101 - 111/44.6 \\ -48.5/52.3 \\ -54/58 \\ -61.4 \end{array}$		8.3/6.2/ 13.4/ 12.9		Control primary root length and might be involved in drought stress under low boron level	Shi et al. (2012)
L_RDW1/2	C4/C7	B. napus	34-42.6/56.5 -71.8		7.3/7.6		Control root dry weight and might be involved in drought stress under low boron level	Shi et al. (2012)
22 major QTLs in relation with root and shoot traits	A3/C6	B. napus	≥10	Fig. 5 of cited ref.	≥10		Alter root morphology and architecture and enhance phosphorus use efficiency	Zhang et al. (2016)
uq.A1/up.A3a/ up.A3b/ up.A3c/ up.A3d/up.C2/ up.C3a/up.C3b	A1/A3/C2/ C3	B. napus	Table 3 of cited ref.		9.36— 17.1	AtGPT1/ AT4	Related to root morphology and tolerance to phosphorus deficiency	Yang et al. (2010)

117

In several studies, QTLs were identified for RSA traits, which affects yield performance of Brassica species under abiotic stress (Lu et al., 2008; Shi et al., 2012; Fletcher et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016; ArifUzZaman et al., 2017). For example, the NRV controlling root vigor, located on chromosome A01, was shown to explain 16.3% of the phenotypic variation in root vigor in B. napus (Arifuzzaman et al., 2017). In that study, the researchers also illustrated that G-box binding factor interacting protein 1 (GIP1) and SAUR-like family proteins are candidate genes for RSA. Lu et al. (2008) detected seven QTLs for taproot thickness, five QTLs for taproot length, and six QTLs for taproot weight in B. rapa. These QTLs accounted for 8.4%-27.4% of the phenotypic variation, a clear indication of substantial genetic variation in taproot traits within B. rapa and of beneficial alleles that could improve tolerance to heat and drought stresses and yield performance. Li et al. (2014) found several QTLs were associated with waterlogging tolerance and drought resistance at the seedling stage in a double haploid rapeseed population. Their study also indicated overlap of the QTLs for waterlogging tolerance and QTLs for drought tolerance, which implies a genetic association of these two tolerance traits. Similarly, several QTLs for root traits that responded to soil nutrient concentrations (e.g., boron and phosphorus) were closely linked with the QTLs for drought tolerance (Yang et al., 2010; Li et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016).

An important strategy to maintain tolerance to heat and drought stress is to avoid leaf senescence, such as by upregulating the "stay-green trait" and thereby increasing the photoassimilates accumulated over the crop life cycle. The stay-green trait refers to heritably delayed foliar senescence characteristics that reflect a delayed chlorophyll catabolism (Thomas and Ougham, 2014). In some studies, QTLs involved in stay-green functions coincided with those that conferred crop tolerance to heat and drought (Harris et al., 2007; Borrell et al., 2014b; Christopher et al., 2016). Therefore, improvement in stress tolerance can be achieved by selecting stay-green as a preferred ideotypic trait in rapeseed/canola (Thomas and Ougham, 2014). For instance, retention of green leaf area of selected lines with major stay-green Stg QTLs improved the shoot carbohydrate content, grain filling process, and grain weight under heat and drought conditions (Harris et al., 2007). Several major stay-green QTLs, Stg1, Stg 2, Stg 3, and Stg 4, identified in Sorghum bicolor were reported to enhance crop performance when exposed to abiotic stress (Harris et al., 2007). Borrell et al. (2014a) showed that Stg QTLs can alter crop canopy development and therefore optimize crop water consumption and grain yield under severe drought stress. This modification and optimization of stay-green QTLs appear to be associated with beneficial RSA traits (larger root angle and deep roots) that increase water uptake by facilitating water extraction from a larger volume of soil (Manschadi et al., 2006). Therefore, the expression of stay-green might allow the plant to optimize its RSA. In general, stay-green trait is associated with hormone regulation and signaling (particularly involving in cytokinins and ethylene), TFs (WRKY and NAC families), and ROS (Thomas and Ougham, 2014). Although there are few studies to examine the stay-green trait in rapeseed/canola, this trait appears to be a valuable phenological metric that merits further consideration when designing rapeseed/canola varieties that are adapted to future climate change (Collins et al., 2008; Thomas and Ougham, 2014).

Since hundreds of QTLs were linked to crop tolerance of abiotic stresses, it is desirable to introgress those candidate QTLs into elite lines or highyielding varieties through marker-assisted selection (MAS). Unfortunately, MAS has not yet helped to generate rapeseed/canola varieties with greater tolerance to heat and drought stresses (Collins et al., 2008; Hu and Xiong, 2014). As tolerance of abiotic stress is generally controlled by several epistatic QTLs (Bita and Gerats, 2013), the lack of progress in this area is likely due to the anticipated interactions between multiple stresses or diverse environments. Alternatively, Tester and Langridge (2010) suggested that the combination of reliable phenotyping and improved MAS can be adopted in transferring desirable alleles into elite germplasm. The rapid development in genome-wide selection and molecular breeding technologies is promising, but it is still challenging to explore large data sets from "OMICS" and determine the key functional units for efficiently genetic engineering and breeding of varieties with high tolerance to abiotic stress.

3. ROOT SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

RSA refers to the spatial and temporal configuration and structure of the plant's root system (de Dorlodot et al., 2007). On a macroscale, RSA describes the organization of the primary and lateral roots (Smith and Smet, 2012). At the microscale, RSA extends to the root microstructure including fine root hairs and root tips, and their interactions with soil and soil microorganisms that are responsible for the uptake of water and nutrients.

Rapeseed has a taproot system with a central, dominant taproot, and lateral roots that support the fine roots (Fig. 4A). A taproot is generally



Figure 4 Images showing (A) original canola root system, (B) root structure image from the WinRHIZO method, with root diameter classifications in color superimposed on the root system, (C) light microscopy image of a lateral cross section taken near the root crown of the canola taproot. *Figures are adapted from Wu and Ma (2018)*.

straight and very thick at the root crown, tapering to a small root tip, and grows downward (Wu and Ma, 2016). Rapeseed root systems have a typical taproot architecture shaped like an inverted cone (Fig. 4B). Rapeseed has an extensive root system and root hairs with large surface area that take up nutrients and water from the soil. The cross section near the root crown (collar) of canola is shown in Fig. 4C. The vascular bundles are arranged in an open concentric ring, separating central pith from an outer cortex. In each bundle, separating the xylem and phloem that transports water and nutrients internally, is a layer of meristem or active formative tissue known as cambium that gives rise to thickened cells to enhanced mechanical strength and reduce water loss. The rooting depth for winter and spring canola was approximately 2.2 and 1.5 m, respectively, under drought conditions (Johnston et al., 2002). The taproot system serves a variety of functions including water and nutrient uptake, anchoring and mechanical support, storage of photosynthates and other reserves, and signal transduction (Ryan et al., 2016; Wu and Ma, 2016). The major importance of RSA lies in the fact that most resources are heterogeneously distributed in the soil, so that the spatial and temporal deployment of roots determines the ability of a crop to be aware of soil conditions and exploit edaphic resources (Brussaard et al., 2007). Better understanding of RSA functions, from the genetic to farming system levels, will lead to predictions about how the crop will be impacted by environmental conditions and management practices, of crucial importance for narrowing the gap between the actual average yields and genetic potential (Garnett et al., 2009; Arai–Sanoh et al., 2014; Judd et al., 2015; Ryan et al., 2016).

Several simulation studies based on the genetic and molecular-level functions of rapeseed and cereal crops suggest that RSA manipulation will increase yield potential by improving the resource use efficiencies (de Dorlodot et al., 2007). For instance, Lilley and Kirkegaard (2011) illustrated that a narrow root angle and large number of seminal roots could increase water uptake and improve plant tolerance to drought in dryland cropping regions. In addition, roots serve as the major sensory interface between the plant and soil, able to detect abiotic stresses and respond to environmental cues, which helps the plant to adapt to diverse environments by altering RSA for maximal growth (De Smet et al., 2012; Jiang and Hartung, 2008). More importantly, root system has an important role in plant—soil—microbe interactions and mediates crosstalk with beneficial soil microorganisms in the rhizosphere, an emerging hot topic for plant biology (Ryan et al., 2016).

3.1 Methods for Measuring Root System Architecture

Precise evaluation of RSA is critical to understand plant growth and response to environmental stresses (Fang et al., 2012) and is viewed as essential to developing advanced *Brassica* varieties that possess great potential yields (Fetcher et al., 2015) and exhibit high tolerance to abiotic stresses (Lilley and Kirkegaard, 2011). For instance, Svačina et al. (2014) identified specific indicators of robust RSA detected by an electrical measurement technique that can be implemented in barley breeding programs. This approach may overcome the difficulties in characterizing, quantifying, and interpreting belowground growth and RSA, in terms of its morphology and functionality, without destroying the native architecture. This section examines traditional and modern methodologies for root quantification and summarizes the pros and cons of each method in Table 3.

	, al al al ages	2.544.74	
Traditional Methods			
Root—soil cores sampling	No specific instrument required; simple process; inexpensive if done by hand;	Sampling is difficult in dry clay soils; time—consuming and labor intensive; finest roots may be missed; destructive sampling procedure; tedious work; extra cost and possible impact on plots if cores are collected by mechanized techniques	Schuurman and Goedewaagen (1971), Böhm (1979)
Ingrowth core method	No specific instrument required; simple process; inexpensive; easy to collect the mesh bag; root decomposition can be studied under field condition	Root—free soil is not identical to the undisturbed soil; disturbance of soil condition when introducing the mesh bags; alternation of soil aggregate structure, soil aeration and moisture	Hansson et al. (1991)
Pinboard method	Obtain the entire root system; visualize branching architecture;	More skill required; limited number of samples can be prepared; fine root loss;	Schuurman and Goedewaagen (1971), Floris and Van Noordwijk (1984)
2D Quantification Methods			
WinRHIZO	Automatic image acquisition and analysis; provides information on topology, architecture, color analysis and root diameter classification; inexpensive; widely used	Original root architecture is altered; root structure not fully described by 2D analysis; root overlapping;	Wu et al. (2017)

Table 3Summary of Advantages and Disadvantages Associated With Methods to Quantify or Describe Plant Root SystemsClassAdvantagesDisadvantagesReferences

122

EZ-RHIZO	Nodestructive; track root system development over time; semiautomatic software; original root architecture unchanged; open source; nondestructive	Plant should be grown on a solid support agar medium; only in 2D analysis	Armengaud et al. (2009)
RootTrace	High-throughput; nodestructive; track root system development over time; automatic method; open source; nondestructive	Plant should be grown on a solid support agar medium; only in 2D analysis	French et al. (2009), Iyer —Pascuzzi et. al. (2010);
Other: Delta—T—Scan; WR—RIPL; RMS; DART	More complex root system can be recorded such as root branching, angles, root order or even lateral root emergence	Only in 2D analysis; require artificial growing conditions	Ingram and Leers 2001, Le Bot et al. (2010); www.delta-t.co.uk; (http://rootimage. msu.edu
3D Quantification Methods			
Minirhizotrons	3D structure measurement; more root characteristics, such as root longevity, or even mycorrhization and parasitism; root can be monitored in time during whole growth stage	Difficult of tube installation, and the associated distribution and compaction of soil condition	Bates (1937), Vamerali et al. (2012), Johnson et al. (2001)
X—ray computed tomography	More applicable; noninvasive 3D imaging in the field; higher spatial resolution	Same attenuation coefficient between root tissue and other nonspecific soil organic matter and high soil moisture make it difficult to distinguish fine roots; expensive	Tracy et al., 2010, Gregory et al. (2003); Mooney et al. (2012), Perret et al. (2007)

(Continued)

123

	Auvantages	Disadvantages	Nererences
Magnetic resonance imaging	High-resolution cross-section images; nondestructive 3D imaging in the soil; high fractions of the root systems	Sensitive to soil moisture; expensive	Callaghan (1993), Borisjuk et al. (2012); van Dusschoten et al. (2016)
Ground–penetrating radar	Noninvasive 3D imaging in the field; allow relatively rapid and repeated measurement; applicable for entire root system over time;	Its accuracy is only sufficient for large tree root; results also be influenced by the changes in the soil context, soil moisture and other environmental factors;	Butnor et al. (2001), Metzner et al. (2015)
3D digitizer; 3D laser scanning; digital camera	3D structure measurement and model; more 3D root architecture parameters could be achieved	Only use in laboratory condition; requirement of excavation of the entire root system; time intensive;	Lang (1973), Petzold et al. (1999), Fang et al. (2009), Zhu et al. (2006)
Others			
Electrical measurement	Convenient, fast, nondestructive method; high efficiency; no requirement of excavation of the root system	Not in 2D or 3D analysis; accuracy will be influenced by soil moisture, current frequency, position of the positive plant electrode and negative soil electrode, and soil/root temperature	Dalton (1995), Chloupek (1972), Ellis et al. (2012), Wu et al. (2017)
Carbon isotopic method	Accurate estimation of root turnover and C budget; without alteration or interruption of soil and root growth	Requirement of isotope labeling C incorporated into structural tissue; only root biomass value instead of root architecture	Liang et al. (2002), Subedi et al. (2006), Milchunas (2012), Studer et al. (2014)

 Table 3
 Summary of Advantages and Disadvantages Associated With Methods to Quantify or Describe Plant Root Systems—cont'd

 Class
 Advantages
 Disadvantages

3.1.1 Traditional Methods

The traditional method for evaluating the root system involves the separation of roots from the soil in which they grew and tend to disrupt the soil environment while destructively sampling the root system (Taylor et al., 1991). Such so-called shovelomics approach describes as the low-cost root excavations using handheld tools (Thomas et al., 2016) and is still considered the standard method to evaluate RSA details. Three variations of this method, the root—soil core sampling, ingrowth core, and pinboard methods (Oliveira et al., 2000), are described below.

Root-soil cores. Root-soil core method is a convenient sampling technique that requires no sophisticated equipment of special skills to obtain volumetric-based soil samples. With this method, root-soil cores are taken from the field with hand-operated or mechanical apparatus, and then washed carefully to separate fine roots from soil (Schuurman and Goedewaagen, 1971). A hand-driven auger is often recommended to collect the root-soil core. The apparatus contains a cylindrical tube of approximately 15-30 cm long with an inside diameter of 5-10 cm, and a rotating T-handle at the top of the auger shaft to aid the auger penetration into and removal from the soil (Oliveira et al., 2000; Frasier et al., 2016). When hundreds of root-soil core samples are to be collected, the sampling depth exceeds 30 cm of the soil is difficult to penetrate, a mechanized instrument can be employed (Böhm, 1979). The root-soil core samplers can be mounted on a handheld motorized drop-hammer or on a tractor with a drawbar that can provide hydraulic power to move the corer upward and downward (Oliveira et al., 2000). The mechanized technique can reduce sample collection time and labor but is more invasive and possibly damaging to the plot area. For plants with a large root system, a combination of surface excavation and the root-soil core method was used successfully to describe the temporal root mass distribution of maize growing in plots under conservation and conventional tillage (Dwyer et al., 1996).

Ingrowth core method. This method uses measurements of fine root growth into a root-free medium to estimate root production. A mesh bag filled with root-free soil is buried in the root zone for a fixed length of time, and root growth is quantified after washing to separate roots from the root-free soil (Hansson et al., 1991). The detailed procedure to prepare and install mesh bags for the root ingrowth cores is described in Oliveira et al. (2000). Retrieval is facilitated by attaching one end of a rope to the bottom of the mesh bag, and the other end of the rope is labeled

and placed on the soil surface. The mesh bag can be pulled out at the desired sampling time, which saves labor and time. The main drawback is that the root-free soil is not identical to the undisturbed soil and likely affects the root growth because the process of sieving and repacking the root-free soil will modify soil conditions, such as soil aggregate structure, aeration, and moisture. The effect of soil disturbance on root growth must be considered when interpreting the data (Mackie–Dawson and Atkinson, 1991).

Pinboard method. Pinboard method refers to the procedure of using double pins to hold the root system in a suitable position and represent a 2D root monolith. The procedure, construction of the monolith, and other requirements of this method are found in Schuurman and Goedewaagen (1971). Pinboard samples contain the main visible structures in the root system, which can be washed on a coarse mesh screen. This saves time for sample cleaning, as there is less organic debris attached. In addition, the pinboard method exhibits the branching architecture that enables the user to trace individual roots to their origin and conduct analysis of root functions (Floris and Van Noordwijk, 1984). The entire root system can be photographed, providing a holistic image for visual assessment, comparison, or conservation. However, this method requires more skill and labor than the root-soil core or ingrowth core methods, due to large soil volume that must be excavated to obtain each pinboard sample (Oliveira et al., 2000). In addition, more of the fine roots are likely lost with the pinboard method than other traditional methods.

As these traditional methods require collection of most or all of the root system, soil surrounding the root must be removed carefully before the entire or partial root system is pulled from the ground and measured. All those methods are destructive, and the topology or geometry of the root architecture is often destroyed by excavation or during washing when roots are separated from the soil. Loss of the fine roots is inevitable during the sampling and cleaning processes (Mackie–Dawson and Atkinson, 1991) and affects the quality of the data. Furthermore, the traditional methods are time-consuming and labor intensive, although the introduction of mechanical coring devices has eased the labor requirement. Nevertheless, these methods provide a direct approach to evaluate root system and serve to calibrating other nondestructive techniques (Fang et al., 2012). Some modern methods for examining root systems with automated or nondestructive techniques are provided below.

3.1.2 2D Quantification Systems

WinRHIZO. Root imaging acquisition with computer software (WinRHIZO) was developed by Regent Instrument Inc. (Quebec, Canada) to obtain root measurements under laboratory conditions (Metzner et al., 2015). It allows quantitative measurements of root morphological traits, including root length, surface area, volume, and root number that may be linked to root functions (Judd et al., 2015). The software also facilitates the investigation of root topology (e.g., the pattern of root branching; Berntson, 1997), root health by color analysis to identify specific root types, diseased roots, and mycorrhizae. During the measurement, the root is spread out on an image scanner surface in a manner that minimizes root overlap. The major limitation of WinRHIZO is that the laboratory manipulation inevitably changes of original RSA, which may cause inaccurate estimation of the architectural traits, such as root angle, root depth, root number, etc.

EZ-Rhizo. To address the limitations of WinRHIZO, Armengaud et al. (2009) adapted the method to analyze root images on a solid support medium such as agar plates. Multiple root traits relevant to the root architecture are measured with a Windows-integrated, semiautomated software with data storage and data analysis capacity. The EZ-Rhizo system is convenient and suitable to monitor root development and provide phenotypic descriptions of individual plants during their growth. The system allows examination of root growth and differentiation as influenced by plant genotypes and environmental factors. With EZ-Rhizo, natural variations in RSA were identified in 23 *A. thaliana* accessions (Armengaud et al., 2009) and the identified RSA traits will serve as a baseline for future QTL analysis.

RootTrace. Similarly, RootTrace is a software tool developed at the Centre for Plant Integrative Biology, University of Nottingham. It has the advantage of automation for high-throughput quantification of root length, tip, and root curvature, as well as determination of root responses such as onset of gravitropism. Once the starting point is set by the user, the software could trace primary branches to the tips, in every image captured during the time series, and analyze the results (French et al., 2009). The original software was developed to quantify traits in simple dicot root system and was later updated to accommodate a greater variety of root systems (Iyer–Pascuzzi et al., 2010). A digital camera takes root images at every 18° in a 360° container, and plants are grown in transparent gel system. Analysis of 16 acquired phenotypic root traits collected from 2297 images of 118 individual plants demonstrated the feasibility of this imaging and analysis

platform for phenotyping and quantifying root system automatically (Le Bot et al., 2010; Iyer–Pascuzzi et al., 2010).

3.1.3 3D Quantification Systems

As a root system has 3D structure, techniques that represent RSA as a 2D measurement are overly simplistic. Advanced instruments and techniques are now available for high-throughput 3D root image analysis to complement other phenotyping analyses. The 3D structure of a root system describes two characteristics: topological arrangement and geometric formation of the entire root system (Danjon and Reubens, 2008). Topological arrangement describes the physical connections between each root branch and the biological sequences (embedded in axes) and may be considered the basis for internal fluxes of energy, mass, and information (Böhm, 1979). Geometric formation represents the orientation, shape, size, and spatial structure of root branches responsible for plant—soil interactions, anchorage, and nutrient acquisition (Fang et al., 2012).

Minirhizotrons. The first minirhizotron developed by Bates (1937) consisted of a clear glass or plastic tube that was inserted into soil near the root as a noninvasive, nondestructive viewing platform. The root system was observed using a mirror with an electric bulb mounted at one side. Currently, minirhizotrons are transparent tubes inserted into the soil permanently and specialized cameras are installed at selected positions to take images of roots growing outside the tube (Vamerali et al., 2012). This technique is used in field studies to identifying root development process, root behavior, root longevity, or even mycorrhizal colonization and parasitism (Fang et al., 2012; Vamerali et al., 2012). High-resolution cameras coupled with a high-precise digital sensor allow images to be stored in digital form. The image data, transferred to computer memory directly without any loss of quality, make the method accurate and convenient (Faget et al., 2010). Several software programs were developed to analyze minirhizotron root images, such as Root Tracker, Rootfly, and RootView (Fang et al., 2012). One of the advantages of minirhizotron method is that specific root segments can be monitored in time during the growing period, without any impact on the root system (Johnson et al., 2001). It means that root images can be taken for continuous root observation without disturbing the plant or the surrounding soil. However, tube installation is a critical step because soil compaction and gaps between the tube and the adjacent soil must be avoided. Johnson et al. (2001) suggested that waiting about 6 months between tube installation and image collection would ensure

129

that soil conditions returned to predisturbance levels, but this consideration would significantly limit the use of minirhizotrons in agronomic studies on annual crops.

X-ray computed tomography. X-ray computed tomography (CT) refers to a computerized X-ray imaging procedure in which a narrow beam of X-ray is aimed at specific areas of a scanned object (such as plant roots) to produce several cross-sectional (tomographic) images at different angles (Tracy et al., 2010). CT imaging was originally developed for medical uses, but it has become a promising tool for noninvasive 3D imaging of plant roots and demonstrated in various species such as Arabidopsis, rice, maize, wheat, and chickpea (Gregory et al., 2003; Lontoc-Roy et al., 2006; Perret et al., 2007; Mooney et al., 2012; Rogers et al., 2016). Digital geometry processing is used to generate a nondestructive visualization of the 3D root system from large number of 2D radiographic images. X-ray CT is an effective tool to visualize root systems growing in soil (Zhu et al., 2011). For instance, Rogers et al. (2016) provided a framework for using X-ray CT technique to study RSA in different growth environments, for the purpose of selecting genotypes with desirable root traits. Limitations of the CT technique arise from the reliance on X-ray beams passing through the root tissue since part of the X-ray beam is absorbed by the root tissue, thereby reducing its intensity, via a process called attenuation (Metzner et al., 2015). The similar attenuation coefficient between root tissue and soil organic matter is a major limitation of using the X-ray CT technique in a soil medium (Fang et al., 2012). This makes difficult to distinguish smaller root structures from soil, particularly when soil has a high organic matter (Rogers et al., 2016), or under high soil moisture (Lontoc-Roy et al., 2006). In addition, X-ray CT can be expensive but it generates high-quality images of the root system (Zhu et al., 2011). In the future, multiple energy CT techniques that resolve the problems associated with attenuation differentiation need to be developed and adopted to improve discrimination of components in the plant-soil system and reduce costs as well.

Magnetic resonance imaging. The magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technique delivers structural information in a nondestructive manner. With a powerful nuclear magnetic resonance and pulses of radio wave energy, the MRI system creates detailed, high-resolution cross-section images (Callaghan, 1993). MRI was originally developed for medical purposes and does not use radiation, distinguishing it from X-ray CT scanning (Metzner et al., 2015), and provides an alternative approach to visualize plant root systems (Gruwel, 2014; van Dusschoten et al., 2016).

For instance, a pipeline for root analysis relying on MRI for advanced image visualization and the analysis software toolbox named "NMRooting" was developed to examine the root growth of barley and maize crops (van Dusschoten et al., 2016). The major shortcoming of the MRI technique is its sensitivity to soil moisture because root tissue is surrounded by water filled pores and impure soil medium that can exacerbate image distortion (Fang et al., 2012; Gruwel, 2014). Combined image analysis using positron emission tomography (PET) with MRI may solve this problem (Jahnke et al., 2009), although extraction and analysis of MRI–PET data is still a challenge (Cho et al., 2008). Metzner et al. (2015) compared MRI with the X-ray CT technique and found that both techniques performed equally well for imaging a 3D root system. MRI is more suitable for larger root systems, as it can analyze larger root volumes than the CT technique, which is better suited to provide finer spatial resolution of a specific root segment.

Ground-penetrating radar. Ground-penetrating radar (GPR) is a geophysical technique that uses radar pulses to image the subsurface of root structure (Metzner et al., 2015). In GPR, short pulses of electromagnetic energy penetrate into the ground, and the energy is either absorbed by the surveyed material (e.g., roots) or reflected back to the antenna when materials of dissimilar dielectric constant are encountered (Butnor et al., 2001). The reflected energy is then collected on a portable computer for further analysis to create a 3D root architecture image (Stokes et al., 2002). GPR is a noninvasive technique that allows relatively rapid, repeated measurements of the entire root system over time, especially for large tree species. However, its accuracy is only sufficient to resolve coarse roots with diameters of at least 1 cm or larger. The accuracy of GPR results may also be influenced by the soil conditions and other environmental factors, as suggested by Miller et al. (2004) and confirmed by Butnor et al. (2001), who showed that GPR was ineffective in clay soil or soils having high moisture content. Further work is needed to improve the accuracy and extend the use of GPR for crop root quantification.

3D digitizer and laser scanning techniques. Modern techniques such as 3D digitizer and 3D laser scanning were developed to study root architecture (Danjon and Reubens, 2008; Fang et al., 2012). Lang (1973) introduced the first 3D digitizer for plants. This apparatus consisted of four rotationally articulated arms that pivot, and the angles between the arms are recorded by a precision potentiometer. The apparatus must be in contact with some points of the plant to record its 3D spatial coordinates.

Using a 3D digitizer (3Space Fastrak, Polhemus, USA), Wu et al. (2015) quantified the spatial distribution of the root system and suggested that the 3D digitizer was suitable to take accurate measurements of maize root 3D architecture under field conditions. The 3D laser scanner was originally introduced to generate digital terrain models in the geosciences field (Petzold et al., 1999). This technique was then adapted for root studies with a revised model. With a 3D laser scanner, Fang et al. (2009) quantified the root architecture in situ of soybean and rice plants within a transparent gel-based growth system. Both methods have a similar disadvantage that they do not work in opaque growth media and require excavation of the entire root system to describe its 3D structure.

3.1.4 Other Root Quantification Methods

Electrical measurement method. Electrical capacitance (EC) and electrical impedance (EI), at a single frequency, or at multifrequencies, were used to characterize plant root systems (Dalton, 1995; Postic and Claude, 2016; Wu et al., 2017). This method uses EI spectroscopy (Repo et al., 2012) or a simple handheld capacitance meter to estimate root parameters nondestructively (Chloupek, 1972; Dalton, 1995; Ellis et al., 2012). Dalton (1995) described the electrochemical interpretation of the EC measurement as follows: fine roots behave as cylindrical capacitors and their capacitances can be added together and wired in parallel mode. Therefore, the capacitance (in farads) is a measure of the amount of electrical charge stored in the root membranes, and quantity is proportional to the active root surface area. EI is another feasible method to estimate the absorptive root area (Čermák et al., 2006; Repo et al., 2012), based on the theory of polarization and relaxation phenomena of biological membranes involved in geometric and dielectric properties, which was illustrated in Aubrecht et al. (2006) and Repo et al. (2012).

EC and EI were significantly correlated with root length, surface area and volume, as well as root fresh/dry weights when plants were grown under hydroponic, sand-based medium, and field conditions (Dalton, 1995; Svačina et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2017). Furthermore, EC and EI can be used as potential indicators of stress tolerance in a crop breeding program or in appraising agronomic management technologies for adaptation to a changing climate (Wu and Ma, 2016; Wu et al., 2017). In general, EC and EI give a better reflection of root properties in hydroponic or sand-based growth medium than under field conditions because these measurements are significantly affected by soil moisture (Wu et al., 2017). Fig. 5 illustrates



Figure 5 Effect of relative moisture content (%) on root capacitance and impedance measured at several electrical frequencies (100 Hz, 1 KHz, and 10 KHz; unpublished data).

the gradual increase in EC with increasing relative moisture content (RMC, %) that plateaus when RMC is at \geq 80%, regardless of the test frequency, which may be caused by incomplete contact between root tissue and the soil medium as discussed by Wu et al. (2017). EC and EI are affected by other independent factors, such as current frequency, position of the positive electrode on the plant and relative to the position of the negative soil electrode, and soil/root temperature (Aubrecht et al., 2006; Postic and Claude, 2016; Wu et al., 2017). For instance, correlations between EC and root morphological traits were stronger under 1 KHz or 10 KHz, than under 100 Hz, leading Wu et al. (2017) to recommend 1 KHz and 10 KHz as the current frequencies for EC measurements in root studies.

Carbon isotopic method. Soil and crop roots are differentially enriched in carbon (C) and N staple isotopes (Subedi and Ma, 2010). Carbon isotopic method involves isotope pulse labeling and then traces the stable isotope ¹³C (or the radioactive ¹⁴C) in the organic matter (plant roots or soil and root mixture), considering the isotopic dilution from the ¹²C isotope fixed through photosynthesis (Subedi and Ma, 2010; Studer et al., 2014). The C stable isotope is suitable to study soil C dynamics, while the use of radioactive ¹⁴C is limited due to radiation safety and disposal issues (Milchunas, 2012; Studer et al., 2014). Liang et al. (2002) illustrated the feasibility of the ¹³C isotopic method to quantify soil root residues and

calculate the C budget, whereas ¹³C isotopes were used to evaluate the effect of elevated CO_2 on aboveground and root biomass (van Vuuren et al., 2000). Root-derived carbon in soil as a proxy for root biomass from a wheat crop was estimated using the ¹³C isotopic method (Subedi et al., 2006). The C isotopic method could provide more accurate quantification of root biomass because it accounts for a substantial amount of root-derived C (i.e., 26% of root-derived C according to Subedi et al., 2006) that was lost or underestimated from root excavation and washing procedures. Overall, ¹³C isotopic method offers an alternative to study root system without disturbing soil and root growth, although root architecture cannot be explored.

3.2 Impact of Stress on Roots and Its Anchorage

Although root development and spatial distribution is influenced by abiotic stress (Van Noordwijk et al., 2015), root biomass is usually less affected by drought stress than aboveground components. Consequently, the root/ shoot ratio increase under drought stress for rapeseed (Wu et al., 2017) and most cereal crops (Dwyer et al., 1996). Meanwhile, other root morphological and anatomical characteristics (root length, angle, fresh/dry weight, surface area, diameter, deep rooting, cortex thickness, xylem vessels, root hairs, and suberin deposition) and dynamic behavior (root turnover, lignification and suberization, hardening, hydraulic conductivity) are often influenced significantly by drought stress (Jeong et al., 2010; Bengough et al., 2011, 2016). In general, rapeseed is likely to develop a deeper root system in soils under drought condition, with less root growth in the surface layer of soil profile (Johnston et al., 2002). Both taproot and lateral roots extend into deeper soil layers for extracting water (Bengough et al., 2011), resulting in a significantly larger root length/weight ratio under drought conditions, especially at the deep soil profile.

Penetration resistance and limited water are the major limitations to root elongation under drought stress (Bengough et al., 2011). This is mainly due to the increase in resistance to water flow through the soil to the plant root under drought conditions (Osonubi, 1984). Penetration resistance occurs because of shrinkage of soil away from the roots and contraction of the stressed roots in drier soil. Both factors create vapor gaps between the root surface and the surrounding soil (Bengough et al., 2011, 2016) that significantly affect water flow resistance at the root—soil interface. To counteract this effect, Bengough et al. (2011) suggested that root tips and root hairs can be beneficial to root penetration and improve root growth significantly. Soil moisture content also influences root anchorage because it alters soil shear strength, which declines with increasing soil moisture content (Crook and Ennos, 1993). This mathematical expression describing soil shear strength (proposed by Crook and Ennos, 1993 and confirmed by van Delden et al., 2010) establishes the link between root anchorage strength (S_r , N), soil shear strength (τ , N m⁻²), and root cone diameter (D, cm), as follows: $S_r = k \times \tau D^3$, where k is a dimensionless constant. In general, agricultural soils display plastic behavior in shear strength, meaning that the soil is at high initial stiffness but fails at very low strains (Ennos, 2000). Under these conditions, the anchorage strength of plant roots in wetter soil is significantly weaker than in drier soil (Ennos, 1990, 2000). The effect of soil moisture on soil shear strength is expected to be greater in fine-textured clay soils than in coarse-textured sand soils due to their different cohesion strength (Ennos, 2000).

High temperature tends to alter the partitioning of photoassimilate to roots, suppresses root growth/elongation, and changes RSA (Wang et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2017), which may reduce the elliptical root-soil cone volume (Tripathi et al., 2016) and likely reduces root anchorage strength. These phenomena can be explained by cellular-level responses because high temperature accelerates cell growth and cell proliferation, which may produce larger cells with thinner cell walls and smaller vascular bundles (Fig. 6). Consequently, stem bending strength or root rigidity may be weakened. Wu et al. (2017) observed a significant reduction in lateral roots, but no effect on taproots of canola under high temperature or combined heat and drought stresses. In canola, lateral roots represented the greatest proportion of the total root system, whereas the taproot only accounted for $\leq 1\%$ of root length, about 2% of surface area and less than 15% of root volume under greenhouse environment (Wu et al., 2017). This leads us to propose that lateral roots contribute significantly to root anchorage, considering their overall contribution to the root system and structural arrangement (Wu and Ma, 2018). Some lateral roots grow at the stem base, pointing radially outward and tapering downward (Wu and Ma, 2016, Fig. 4A). In addition, lateral roots originating from the taproot can also branch to produce tertiary roots with larger angles and extending horizontally to create an inverted crown shape, similar to in the root system of rice and wheat (Crook and Ennos, 1993; Ennos, 2000). Our further investigations (Wu and Ma, 2018) clearly showed that canola plants are more prone to anchorage failure than stem buckling under high-temperature condition (Fig. 7), which was mainly due to suppression of lateral root growth



Normal temperature

High temperature

Figure 6 Light microscopy images showing rapeseed/canola responses in the root crown of the canola taproot to normal temperature (A–C; $23.0/17.0^{\circ}$ C) and high-temperature treatment (D–F; $27.01/24.33^{\circ}$ C). Incomplete primary phloem fibers (ippf) were observed in high-temperature condition (D) and absent at normal temperature (A); thinner fiber walls are seen under high-temperature condition (E) in comparison with normal temperature (B); the conspicuously thickened primary xylem found in normal temperature (C) was reduced at high temperature (F). *Figures are adapted from Wu and Ma (2018)*.

(32%), and thereby reduction in root bending resistance (33%), root—soil cone dimension (13%), and its shear strength (33%). Therefore, root lodging risk will become a bigger problem as temperatures continue to increase due to global warming. We recommend that root lodging resistance should be targeted as the priority trait in canola breeding for a highly productive crop with a rigid root system that is well adapted to climate change.

Root hairs are also extremely sensitive to heat and drought stresses. Root hairs were long recognized for their contribution to increase root surface



Figure 7 Relative susceptibility to lodging of stems and roots of rapeseed/canola under normal temperature (A; 23.0/17.0°C) and high-temperature (B; 27.01/24.33°C) conditions. Safety factor refers to lodging resistance against stem buckling or anchorage failure. *Figures are adapted from Wu and Ma (2018)*.

area and root—soil contact area that facilitates nutrient and water uptake (Bengough et al., 2011) and are now known to have a physical role in anchorage. Bengough et al. (2016) demonstrated that root hairs helped anchor the root tip in loose seed beds above more compact soil layers and could also assist root tips to penetrate the compacted bulk soil or drying soils. This observation is consistent with Stolzy and Barley (1968), who found that the force required to pull a pea root out of the soil increased to 0.2 N mm⁻¹ length of hairy roots, compared with 0.04 N mm⁻¹ of root tip before root hair emergence. In contrast, Ennos (2000) suggested that root hairs were more important for anchorage during seedling establishment but had a minor role in the anchorage of mature plants. This was based on the argument that root hairs generally appear near the root tip of elongation roots where the cells are dividing and are far away from majority of the root volume during later growth.

In summary, root functions include more than simply water and nutrient uptake, based on work that examined root anchorage and lodging in response to abiotic stresses. RSA is strongly correlated to root physical strength and therefore is of critical importance in determining susceptibility of root lodging (van Delden et al., 2010; Wu and Ma, 2018). Crops grown in the field can be expected to encounter weather conditions such as wind gust and rain storms, and these external forces can increase the bending moment at the base of the stem, which causes root lodging (Ennos, 1990, 2000; Wu and Ma, 2016). More importantly, root lodging needs to be considered when selecting varieties with RSA that is altered for better adaptation to heat and drought stresses (Stolzy and Barley, 1968; Wu and Ma, 2018). We recommend more study into the mechanisms that explain RSA in relationship to crop lodging.

4. IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE CHALLENGE

4.1 Modifying Root System Architecture for Stress Adaptation

Increasing temperature and water scarcity are predicted to be the major limitations of crop production in the future, so agronomists are developing adaptive strategies to combat heat and drought stresses. Past efforts to improve crops for better stress tolerance generally focused on aboveground plant properties, with relatively few studies examining the roots (Mittler, 2002; Thomas and Ougham, 2014; Zahid et al., 2016). RSA is the key determinant of water acquisition and nutrient uptake under heat or drought stress and must be optimized for stress tolerance. The most common negative impact of heat and drought stresses is tissue dehydration (Lu et al., 2012), due to the imbalance between the smaller reserve of soil water that can be supplied to roots and increasing demand for water from the shoots (Aroca et al., 2012). Development of RSA that achieves a well distributed and deeply penetrating root system should compensate for stressful conditions in the surface soil layers and improve root-mediated regulation of the aboveground plant function (de Dorlodot et al., 2007). However, accurate quantification of the root system under field conditions still remains challenging, due to the inherent nature of RSA as the "hidden half" of the plant and the plasticity of root systems. Technological innovations for root biomass quantification and visualization (summarized in "Methods for measuring RSA" section) should be helpful in identifying key indicators of root functions that can be helpful in this regard.

A deep understanding of root biology is of critical importance in breeding programs to develop stress-tolerant rapeseed/canola genotypes. One possibility is to develop cultivars with the deeper rooting 1 (DRO1) gene (Uga et al., 2013). The DRO1 was identified in rice from a breeding population derived from the cross of shallow-rooting IR64 and the deeprooting landrace Kinandang Patong. This gene provides drought tolerance and therefore improves yield stability in rice. DRO1 is a QTL that regulates RSA by altering root growth angle and stimulating cell elongation in the root tip so that more, deeper roots are produced (Uga et al., 2011).

In shallow-rooting rice, the variety possessing the introduced DRO1 gene exhibited deeper rooting and therefore maintained a high yield performance under drought-prone conditions, relative to the wild type. The deep-rooting variety also had improved nutrient uptake and greater yield under nondrought conditions in the field (Lynch, 2013; Arai–Sanoh et al., 2014). Beneficial genes and loci for root traits that could enhance heat and drought tolerance are also found in rapeseed or other field crops such as wheat, maize, sorghum, and chickpea (Placido et al., 2013; Burton et al., 2014).

4.2 Agronomic Management for Stress Adaptation

Selection of stress-tolerant varieties with high yield potential remains one of the most important agronomic strategies, although cultivation technologies and management practices could help crops cope with heat and drought stresses. Rapeseed growers may avoid drought stress by sowing earlier during the season (Ma et al., 2016a). Rapeseed/canola is a cool-season crop with a long flowering duration and early planting increases the probability that the crop will encounter favorable weather conditions for a longer period of reproductive growth (Ma et al., 2016a). Earlier planting dates could also help rapeseed/canola avoid periodic heat waves that usually occur in early summer when the crop reaches the flowering stage (Wu and Ma, 2016). Optimum planting dates are a successful strategy for maize and spring wheat production in the US Midwest (Reilly et al., 2003) and North Central Plains of China (Mo et al., 2016).

Improved water management, such as subsurface drip irrigation, is another option to cope with drought stress and enhance water use efficiency and yield (Wu and Ma, 2016). This agronomic practice also alleviates heat stress in rapeseed, as the crop transpires water to regulate leaf temperature. Therefore, subsurface drip irrigation and rain water harvesting with straw or plastic mulching have become popular practices in rain-fed agricultural systems throughout the semiarid regions in the world (Wang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016). In addition, adjusting the timing of irrigation could ensure a crop's water supply at critical, stress-sensitive growth stages (Lotze– Campen and Schellnhuber, 2009). This strategy is not feasible for regions where irrigation water is scarce or insufficient rain water is collected (Wang et al., 2011). Other water management strategies, such as regulated deficit irrigation, partial-root drying, alternate drying and wetting techniques, are reported to improve water-use efficiency in various crop species under drought conditions (Kang and Zhang, 2004). Several innovative fertilization techniques, such as slow release or controlled release fertilizers with deep placement, ensure a gradual nutrient supply during the growing season (Roger et al., 1980). Controlling the nutrient supply avoids overluxuriant growth during the vegetative stage and reduces water consumption by leaf transpiration, while conserving nutrients for uptake later in the growing season, such as to achieve full canopy size during reproductive stage and meet yield goals. Deep placement of fertilizer encourages deeper root growth and preserves nutrients because deeply placed fertilizer is less susceptible to loss through erosion and volatilization in soil surface layers (Johnson et al., 2016). Improved nutrient management is likely to improve the shoot and root growth, providing greater crop tolerance to heat and drought stresses.

Chemical priming is another option to increase crop tolerance to abiotic stresses (Subedi and Ma, 2005; Martinez–Medina et al., 2016). Analogous to vaccination, chemical priming involves exposing seeds or plant tissues to small doses of stress-inducing chemical compounds so that the plant begins preparing defense mechanisms. Thus, when abiotic stress occurs, the plant has already acquired defense mechanisms that can be activated faster and to resist the stressor. A recent review by Savvides et al. (2016) addressed the challenges and opportunities of using various chemical priming agents (e.g., sodium nitroprusside, hydrogen peroxide, melatonin, polyamines, etc.) for crop stress management.

4.3 Breeding Selection for Stress Adaptation

There have been numerous plant breeding achievements in rapeseed/canola in the last 50 years. For instance, Canadian breeders successfully developed a series of herbicide-tolerant hybrids with better seed quality and better tolerance to abiotic stress (Bueckert and Clarke, 2013; McVetty and Duncan, 2015). As heat stress and drought becomes more common worldwide, there is an opportunity to use molecular technologies and tools, such as MAS, genetic transformation, or other genetic engineering approaches, to augment conventional plant breeding efforts aimed at improving yield and ensuring food security (Fischer and Edmeades, 2010; Tester and Langridge, 2010; Hu and Xiong, 2014). MAS was used successfully in the *Brassica* oilseed breeding program and will continue to be helpful in breeding new varieties with improved tolerance to abiotic stress (He et al., 2014). Introduction of NGS will accelerate the genome sequencing and targeted resequencing capabilities for all plant genomes, leading to the identification of new molecular markers (Varshney et al., 2009). These markers may include the important candidate genes, TFs, microRNA, and QTLs reviewed in section 2 of this paper, as they are already associated with crop responses to heat and drought stresses.

Genetic improvement of rapeseed is essential for abiotic stress adaptation (Hu and Xiong, 2014; Jha et al., 2014). Given that RSA was not included as a desirable trait in traditional breeding programs, there is huge potential to integrate root-based data into the selection process since RSA is proven to improve tolerance to heat and drought stresses and support greater resource acquisition and yield. However, the process of accurately identifying relevant QTLs or major genes remains a bottleneck. This is because (1) RSA traits usually display low heritability values due to root plasticity in heterogeneous soil environments; (2) there are no highly precise and highthroughput phenotyping techniques or platforms for root systems; and (3) root tolerance mechanisms are often environment-specific due to the unpredictable nature of the timing and intensity of abiotic stresses (Collins et al., 2008; Miles and Wayne, 2008; Bueckert and Clarke, 2013; Hu and Xiong, 2014). Lack of high-throughput phenotyping may be overcome by designing a robust phenotyping platform or new techniques that provide accurate estimates of the heritability and repeatability of RSA. Combining extensive phenotyping information with the modern genomic resources will lead to an exploration of alleles that govern RSA and relate to enhanced productivity in Brassica species (Chalhoub et al., 2014). It will also provide breeders with a unique opportunity to enhance genetic gain based on root traits (Fig. 3).

Although this task may appear daunting, many of the molecular mechanisms for stress acclimation were evaluated in *Arabidopsis*, a relative of rapeseed/canola. Hence, much is already known about the key genes/ loci, and the associated physiological processes and molecular mechanisms that will be important for rapeseed/canola crop performance. The applications are not limited to Brassicas because there are common genetic, molecular, biochemical, cellular, and physiological processes occurring among all crops (Ying et al., 2012; Qin et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2015). However, the gene targets from model species must be exposed or expeditiously introgressed into popular high-yielding varieties in *Brassica* oilseed crop for new variety development to be successful. Further efforts and improvements are required to integrate genetic engineering and MAS applications in breeding programs for the rapeseed/canola crop. To make genomic selection a more cost-effective approach, a two-part genomic selection strategy, a population improvement component, and a product development component, in a breeding program, has been illustrated to generate twice the genetic gain of breeding programs with equal budgets and time frames (Gaynor et al., 2017).

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Roots, as the "hidden half" of plants (Eshel and Beeckman, 2013) are now recognized as an "early warning system" that detects and responds to abiotic stresses. Roots have significant roles in plant anchorage and resource acquisition, but we are now recognizing their value as a signaling network that relies on genetic, molecular, cellular, and physiological processes to avoid or tolerate heat and drought stresses. Modern methods for quantification of RSA will be important to understand how molecular cues and biochemical reactions affect the phenotype of stressed plants, although it remains challenging to perform root observations in situ. Ongoing research on Brassica root systems is absolutely essential for selecting varieties that are well adapted to the heat and drought stresses, which are likely to intensify due to ongoing global climate change. Rapeseed/canola is an economically important crop that is susceptible to these abiotic stressors, and the information presented here will be of considerable value in breeding programs and for practical agronomic improvements to sustain oilseed production for future food security.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was financially supported, in part, by the Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) Growing Forward II Canola/Flax Cluster project J–000349.001.01 and the Canadian Agricultural Partnership Canola Cluster Project 13 through the Collaborative Research and Development Agreement between AAFC and the Canola Council of Canada. We gratefully acknowledge the excellent work and assistance of Lynne Evenson, Ulrica McKim, and Scott Patterson of AAFC. AAFC–ORDC contribution No. 15–081.

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, M., Bahrani, M.J., 2009. Yield and yield components of rapeseed as influenced by water stress at different growth stages and nitrogen levels. Amerrcan–Eurasian J. Agric. Environ. Sci. 5, 755–761.
- Ahsan, N., Donnart, T., Nouri, M.Z., Komatsu, S., 2010. Tissue-specific defense and thermo-adaptive mechanisms of soybean seedlings under heat stress revealed by proteomic approach. J. Proteome Res. 9, 4189–4204.
- Aksouh–Harradj, N.M., Campbell, L.C., Mailer, R.J., 2006. Canola response to high and moderately high temperature stresses during seed maturation. Can. J. Plant Sci. 86, 967–980.

- Al-Whaibi, M.H., 2011. Plant heat-shock proteins: a mini review. J. King Saud Univ. Sci. 23, 139–150.
- Angadi, S.V., Cutforth, H.W., Miller, P.R., McConkey, B.G., Entz, M.H., Brandt, S.A., Volkmar, K.M., 2000. Response of three *Brassica* species to high temperature stress during reproductive growth. Can. J. Plant Sci. 80, 693–701.
- Apel, K., Hirt, H., 2004. Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Ann. Rev. Plant Biol. 55, 373–399.
- Arai–Sanoh, Y., Takai, T., Yoshinaga, S., Nakano, H., Kojima, M., Sakakibara, H., Kondo, M., Uga, Y., 2014. Deep rooting conferred by DEEPER ROOTING 1 enhances rice yield in paddy fields. Sci. Rep. 4 https://doi.org/10.1038/srep05563.
- ArifUzZaman, M., Mamidi, S., McClean, P., Rahman, M., 2017. QTL mapping for root vigor and days to flowering in *Brassica napus* L. Can. J. Plant Sci. 97, 99–109.
- Armengaud, P., Zambaux, K., Hills, A., Sulpice, R., Pattison, R.J., Blatt, M.R., Amtmann, A., 2009. EZ–Rhizo: integrated software for the fast and accurate measurement of root system architecture. Plant J. 57, 945–956.
- Aroca, R., Porcel, R., Ruiz–Lozano, J.M., 2012. Regulation of root water uptake under abiotic stress conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 43–57.
- Ashoub, A., Beckhaus, T., Berberich, T., Karas, M., Bruggemann, W., 2013. Comparative analysis of barley leaf proteome as affected by drought stress. Planta 237, 771–781.
- Aubrecht, L., Staněk, Z., Koller, J., 2006. Electrical measurement of the absorption surfaces of tree roots by the earth impedance method: 1. Theory. Tree Physiol. 26, 1105–1112.
- Augustine, S.M., Narayan, J.A., Syamaladevi, D.P., Appunu, C., Chakravarthi, M., Ravichandran, V., Tuteja, N., Subramonian, N., 2015. Overexpression of EaDREB2 and pyramiding of EaDREB2 with the pea DNA helicase gene (PDH45) enhance drought and salinity tolerance in sugarcane (*Saccharum spp.* hybrid). Plant Cell Rep. 34, 247–263.
- Bandehagh, A., Salekdeh, G.H., Toorchi, M., Mohammadi, A., Komatsu, S., 2011. Comparative proteomic analysis of canola leaves under salinity stress. Proteomics 11, 1965–1975.
- Barnabás, B., Jäger, K., Fehér, A., 2008. The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. Plant Cell Environ. 31, 11–38.
- Bates, G.H., 1937. A device for the observation of root growth in the soil. Nature 139, 966–967.
- Bellini, C., Pacurar, D.I., Perrone, I., 2014. Adventitious roots and lateral roots: Similarities and differences. Ann. Rev. Plant Biol. 65, 639–666.
- Bengough, A.G., Loades, K., McKenzie, B.M., 2016. Root hairs aid soil penetration by anchoring the root surface to pore walls. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 1071–1078.
- Bengough, A.G., McKenzie, B.M., Hallett, P.D., Valentine, T.A., 2011. Root elongation, water stress, and mechanical impedance: a review of limiting stresses and beneficial root tip traits. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 59–68.
- Berntson, G.M., 1997. Topological scaling and plant root system architecture: developmental and functional hierarchies. New Phytol. 135, 621–634.
- Bhardwaj, A.R., Joshi, G., Pandey, R., Kukreja, B., Goel, S., Jagannath, A., Kumar, A., Katiyar–Agarwal, S., Agarwal, M., 2014. A genome–wide perspective of miRNAome in response to high temperature, salinity and drought stresses in *Brassica juncea* (Czern) L. PLoS One 9, e0125644.
- Bita, C., Gerats, T., 2013. Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Front. Plant Sci. 4, 273.
- Böhm, W., 1979. Methods of studying root systems. Ecol. Stud. 33, 1–188. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978–3–642–67282–8. Springer Science & Business Media.

- Bokszczanin, K.L., Fragkostefanakis, S., Bostan, H., Bovy, A., Chaturvedi, P., Chiusano, M.L., Firon, N., Iannacone, R., Jegadeesan, S., Klaczynskid, K., Li, H., 2013. Perspectives on deciphering mechanisms underlying plant heat stress response and thermotolerance. Front. Plant Sci. 4, 315.
- Booth, E.J., Gunstone, F.D., 2004. Rapeseed and rapeseed oil: Agronomy, production and trade. In: Gunstone, F.D. (Ed.), Rapeseed and Canola Oil: Production, Processing Properties and Uses. CRC Press, London, pp. 1–16.
- Borisjuk, L., Rolletschek, H., Neuberger, T., 2012. Surveying the plant's world by magnetic resonance imaging. Plant J. 70, 129–146.
- Borrell, A.K., Mullet, J.E., George–Jaeggli, B., van Oosterom, E.J., Hammer, G.L., Klein, P.E., Jordan, D.R., 2014a. Drought adaptation of stay–green sorghum is associated with canopy development, leaf anatomy, root growth, and water uptake. J. Exp. Bot. 21, 6251–6263.
- Borrell, A.K., Oosterom, E.J., Mullet, J.E., George-Jaeggli, B., Jordan, D.R., Klein, P.E., Hammer, G.L., 2014b. Stay-green alleles individually enhance grain yield in sorghum under drought by modifying canopy development and water uptake patterns. New Phytol. 203, 817–830.
- Brussaard, L., De Ruiter, P.C., Brown, G.G., 2007. Soil biodiversity for agricultural sustainability. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 121, 233–244.
- Bueckert, R.A., Clarke, J.M., 2013. Review: annual crop adaptation to abiotic stress on the Canadian prairies: six case studies. Can. J. Plant Sci. 93, 375–385.
- Burton, A.L., Johnson, J.M., Foerster, J.M., Hirsch, C.N., Buell, C.R., Hanlon, M.T., Kaeppler, S.M., Brown, K.M., Lynch, J.P., 2014. QTL mapping and phenotypic variation for root architectural traits in maize (*Zea mays L.*). Theor. Appl. Genet. 127, 2293–2311.
- Butnor, J.R., Doolittle, J.A., Kress, L., Cohen, S., Johnsen, K.H., 2001. Use of ground– penetrating radar to study tree roots in the southeastern United States. Tree Physiol. 21, 1269–1278.
- Cai, H., Tian, S., Dong, H., Guo, C., 2015. Pleiotropic effects of TaMYB3R1 on plant development and response to osmotic stress in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. Gene 558, 227– 234.
- Callaghan, P.T., 1993. Principles of Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Microscopy. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- Canola Council of Canada, 2016. Canola Grower's Manual. Available online: http://www.canolacouncil.org/crop-production/canola-grower's-manual-contents/.
- Canola Council of Canada, 2013. Health Benefit of Canola Oil. Available online: http:// www.canolacouncil.org/oil-and-meal/canola-oil/health-benefits-of-canola-oil/.
- Canola Council of Canada, 2017. Statistic for Provincial Production: 1986–current. Available online: http://www.canolacouncil.org/markets-statistics/.
- Cermák, J., Ulrich, R., Staněk, Z., Koller, J., Aubrecht, L., 2006. Electrical measurement of tree root absorbing surfaces by the earth impedance method: 2. Verification based on allometric relationships and root severing experiments. Tree Physiol. 26, 1113–1121.
- Chalhoub, B., Denoeud, F., Liu, S., Parkin, I.A., Tang, H., Wang, X., Chiquet, J., Belcram, H., Tong, C., Samans, B., Corréa, M., 2014. Early allopolyploid evolution in the post–Neolithic *Brassica napus* oilseed genome. Science 345, 950–953.
- Chaves, M.M., Maroco, J.P., Pereira, J.S., 2003. Understanding plant responses to drought: from genes to the whole plant. Funct. Plant Biol. 30, 239–264.
- Chen, B., Niu, F., Liu, W.Z., Yang, B., Zhang, J., Ma, J., Cheng, H., Han, F., Jiang, Y.Q., 2016a. Identification, cloning and characterization of R2R3–MYB gene family in canola (*Brassica napus L.*) identify a novel member modulating ROS accumulation and hypersensitive–like cell death. DNA Res. 23, 101–114.

- Chen, H., Liu, L., Wang, L., Wang, S., Cheng, X., 2016b. VrDREB2A, a DREB–binding transcription factor from Vigna radiata, increased drought and high–salt tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Plant Res. 129, 263–273.
- Chen, J.C., Fang, S.C., 2016. The long pollen tube journey and in vitro pollen germination of Phalaenopsis. Plant Reprod. 29, 179–188.
- Chen, L., Song, Y., Li, S., Zhang, L., Zou, C., Yu, D., 2012. The role of WRKY transcription factors in plant abiotic stresses. BBA–Gene Regul. Mech. 1819, 120–128.
- Chen, W.W., Freinkman, E., Wang, T., Birsoy, K., Sabatini, D.M., 2016c. Absolute quantification of matrix metabolites reveals the dynamics of mitochondrial metabolism. Cell 166, 1324–1337.
- Chen, X., Wang, Y., Lv, B., Li, J., Luo, L., Lu, S., Zhang, X., Ma, H., Ming, F., 2014. The NAC family transcription factor OsNAP confers abiotic stress response through the ABA pathway. Plant Cell Physiol. 55, 604–619.
- Chloupek, O., 1972. Relationship between capacitance and some other parameters of plant roots. Biol. Plantarum 14, 227–230.
- Cho, Z.H., Son, Y.D., Kim, H.K., Kim, K.N., Oh, S.H., Han, J.Y., Kim, Y.B., 2008. A fusion PET–MRI system with high–resolution research tomograph–PET and ultra– high field 7.0T–MRI for the molecular–genetic imaging of the brain. Proteomics 8, 1302–1323.
- Christopher, J.T., Christopher, M.J., Borrell, A.K., Fletcher, S., Chenu, K., 2016. Stay– green traits to improve wheat adaptation in well–watered and water–limited environments. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 5159–5172.
- Clarke, S., Mur, L.A.J., Wood, J.E., Scott, I.M., 2004. Salicylic acid dependent signaling promotes basal thermotolerance but is not essential for acquired thermotolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 38, 432–447.
- Collins, N.C., Tardieu, F., Tuberosa, R., 2008. Quantitative trait loci and crop performance under abiotic stress: where do we stand? Plant Physiol. 147, 469–486.
- Comstock, J.P., 2002. Hydraulic and chemical signalling in the control of stomatal conductance and transpiration. J. Exp. Bot. 53, 195–200.
- Crook, M.J., Ennos, A.R., 1993. The mechanics of root lodging in winter wheat, *Triticum aestivum L. J. Exp. Bot.* 44, 1219–1224.
- Cruz de Carvalho, M.H., 2008. Drought stress and reactive oxygen species: production, scavenging and signaling. Plant Signaling Behav. 3, 156-165.
- Dalton, F.N., 1995. In-situ root extent measurements by electrical capacitance methods. Plant Soil 173, 157–165.
- Danjon, F., Reubens, B., 2008. Assessing and analyzing 3D architecture of woody root systems, a review of methods and applications in tree and soil stability, resource acquisition and allocation. Plant Soil 303, 1–34.
- de Dorlodot, S., Forster, B., Pagès, L., Price, A., Tuberosa, R., Draye, X., 2007. Root system architecture: opportunities and constraints for genetic improvement of crops. Trends Plant Sci. 12, 474–481.
- De Smet, I., White, P.J., Bengough, A.G., Dupuy, L., Parizot, B., Casimiro, I., Heidstra, R., Laskowski, M., Lepetit, M., Hochholdinger, F., Draye, X., 2012. Analyzing lateral root development: how to move forward. Plant Cell 24, 15–20.
- Dechaine, J.M., Brock, M.T., Weinig, C., 2014. QTL architecture of reproductive fitness characters in *Brassica rapa*. BMC Plant Biol. 14, 66.
- Dharmasiri, N., Dharmasiri, S., Weijers, D., Lechner, E., Yamada, M., Hobbie, L., Ehrismann, J.S., Jürgens, G., Estelle, M., 2005. Plant development is regulated by a family of auxin receptor F box proteins. Dev. Cell 9, 109–119.
- Ding, Z., Li, S., An, X., Liu, X., Qin, H., Wang, D., 2009. Transgenic expression of MYB15 confers enhanced sensitivity to abscisic acid and improved drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis* thaliana. J. Genet. Genomics 36, 17–29.

- Dwyer, L.M., Ma, B.L., Stewart, D.W., Hayhoe, H.N., Balchin, D., Culley, J.L.B., 1996. Root mass distribution under conventional and conservation tillage. Can. J. Soil Sci. 76, 23–28.
- Ellis, T.W., Murray, W., Paul, K., Kavalieris, L., Brophy, J., Williams, C., Maass, M., 2012. Electrical capacitance as a rapid and non-invasive indicator of root length. Tree Physiol. 33, 3–17.
- Ennos, A.R., 1990. The anchorage of leek seedlings: the effect of root length and soil strength. Ann. Bot. 65, 409-416.
- Ennos, A.R., 2000. The mechanics of root anchorage. Adv. Bot. Res. 33, 133-157.
- Eshel, A., Beeckman, T., 2013. Plant Root: The Hidden Half, fourth ed. CRC Press, London.
- Faget, M., Liedgens, M., Stamp, P., Flütsch, P., Herrera, J.M., 2010. A minirhizotron imaging system to identify roots expressing the green fluorescent protein. Comput. Electron. Agr. 74, 163–167.
- Fahad, S., Hussain, S., Saud, S., Khan, F., Hassan, S., Nasim, W., Arif, M., Wang, F., Huang, J., 2016. Exogenously applied plant growth regulators affect heat-stressed rice pollens. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 202, 139–150.
- Fang, S., Clark, R., Liao, H., 2012. 3D quantification of plant root architecture in situ. In: Mancuso, S. (Ed.), Measuring Roots. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 135–148.
- Fang, S., Yan, X., Liao, H., 2009. 3D reconstruction and dynamic modeling of root architecture in situ and its application to crop phosphorus research. Plant J. 60, 1096–1108.
- FAO, 2007. How to Feed the World in 2050. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available online: http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/ docs/expert_paper/How_to_Feed_the_World_in_2050.pdf.
- FAO, 2016. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Food and Agricultural Commodities Production. Available online: http://www.fao.org/statistics/en/.
- Feder, M.E., Hofmann, G.E., 1999. Heat—shock proteins, molecular chaperones, and the stress response: evolutionary and ecological physiology. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 61, 243–282.
- Fischer, R.A., Edmeades, G.O., 2010. Breeding and cereal yield progress. Crop Sci. 50, 85–95.
- Fletcher, R.S., Mullen, J.L., Heiliger, A., McKay, J.K., 2015. QTL analysis of root morphology, flowering time, and yield reveals trade—offs in response to drought in *Brassica napus*. J. Exp. Bot. 66, 245–256.
- Floris, J., Van Noordwijk, M., 1984. Improved methods for the extraction of soil samples for root research. Plant Soil 77, 369–372.
- Franco–Zorrilla, J.M., López–Vidriero, I., Carrasco, J.L., Godoy, M., Vera, P., Solano, R., 2014. DNA–binding specificities of plant transcription factors and their potential to define target genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111, 2367–2372.
- Frasier, I., Noellemeyer, E., Fernández, R., Quiroga, A., 2016. Direct field method for root biomass quantification in agroecosystems. MethodsX 3, 513–519.
- French, A., Ubeda–Tomás, S., Holman, T.J., Bennett, M.J., Pridmore, T., 2009. High– throughput quantification of root growth using a novel image–analysis tool. Plant Physiol. 150, 1784–1795.
- Gan, Y., Angadi, S.V., Cutforth, H., Potts, D., Angadi, V.V., McDonald, C.L., 2004. Canola and mustard response to short periods of temperature and water stress at different developmental stages. Can. J. Plant Sci. 84, 697–704.
- Garnett, T., Conn, V., Kaiser, B.N., 2009. Root based approaches to improving nitrogen use efficiency in plants. Plant Cell Environ. 32, 1272–1283.
- Gaynor, R.C., Gorjanc, G., Bentley, A.R., Ober, E.S., Howell, P., Jackson, R., Mackay, I.J., Hickey, J.M., 2017. A two-part strategy for using genomic selection to develop inbred lines. Crop Sci. 57, 2372–2386.
- Ghobadi, M., Bakhshandeh, M., Fathi, G., Gharineh, M.H., Alami–Said, K., Naderi, A., Ghobadi, M.E., 2006. Short and long periods of water stress during different growth stages of canola (*Brassica napus L.*): effect on yield, yield components, seed oil and protein contents. J. Agron. 5, 336–341.

- Gong, B., Yi, J., Wu, J., Sui, J., Khan, M.A., Wu, Z., Zhong, X., Seng, S., He, J., Yi, M., 2014. LIHSFA1, a novel heat stress transcription factor in lily (*Lilium longiflorum*), can interact with LIHSFA2 and enhance the thermotolerance of transgenic *Arabidopsis* thaliana. Plant Cell Rep. 33, 1519–1533.
- Gregory, P.J., Hutchison, D.J., Read, D.B., Jenneson, P.M., Gilboy, W.B., Morton, E.J., 2003. Non-invasive imaging of roots with high resolution X-ray microtomography. Plant Soil 255, 351–359.
- Grover, A., Twell, D., Schleiff, E., 2016. Pollen as a target of environmental changes. Plant Reprod. 29, 1–2.
- Gruwel, M.L.H., 2014. In situ magnetic resonance imaging of plant roots. Vadose Zone J. 13, 1–8.
- Guan, Q., Lu, X., Zeng, H., Zhang, Y., Zhu, J., 2013. Heat stress induction of miR398 triggers a regulatory loop that is critical for thermotolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant J. 74, 840–851.
- Guan, Q., Yue, X., Zeng, H., Zhu, J., 2014. The protein phosphatase RCF2 and its interacting partner NAC019 are critical for heat stress—responsive gene regulation and thermotolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 26, 438–453.
- Guilfoyle, T.J., Hagen, G., 2007. Auxin response factors. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 10, 453-460.
- Guo, M., Liu, J.H., Ma, X., Luo, D.X., Gong, Z.H., Lu, M.H., 2016. The plant heat stress transcription factors (HSFs): structure, regulation, and function in response to abiotic stresses. Front. Plant Sci. 7.
- Gutierrez, L., Bussell, J.D., Pacurar, D.I., Schwambach, J., Pacurar, M., Bellini, C., 2009. Phenotypic plasticity of adventitious rooting in *Arabidopsis* is controlled by complex regulation of Auxin Response Factor transcripts and MicroRNA abundance. Plant Cell 21, 3119–3132.
- Hansson, A., Andrén, O., Steen, E., 1991. Root production of four arable crops in Sweden and its effect on abundance of soil organisms. In: Atkinson, D. (Ed.), Plant Root Growth: An Ecological Perspective. Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 247–266.
- Harris, K., Subudhi, P.K., Borrell, A., Jordan, D., Rosenow, D., Nguyen, H., Klein, P., Klein, R., Mullet, J., 2007. Sorghum stay–green QTL individually reduce post– flowering drought–induced leaf senescence. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 327–338.
- Hashimoto, M., Kisseleva, L., Sawa, S., Furukawa, T., Komatsu, S., Koshiba, T., 2004. A novel rice PR10 protein, RSOsPR10, specifically induced in roots by biotic and abiotic stresses, possibly via the jasmonic acid signaling pathway. Plant Cell Physiol. 45, 550–559.
- He, G.H., Xu, J.Y., Wang, Y.X., Liu, J.M., Li, P.S., Chen, M., Ma, Y.Z., Xu, Z.S., 2016a. Drought–responsive WRKY transcription factor genes TaWRKY1 and TaWRKY33 from wheat confer drought and/or heat resistance in *Arabidopsis*. BMC Plant Biol. 16, 116.
- He, J., Zhao, X., Laroche, A., Lu, Z.X., Liu, H., Li, Z., 2014. Genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS), an ultimate marker-assisted selection (MAS) tool to accelerate plant breeding. Front. Plant Sci. 5, 484.
- He, Y., Mao, S., Gao, Y., Zhu, L., Wu, D., Cui, Y., Li, J., Qian, W., 2016b. Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of WRKY transcription factors under multiple stresses in Brassica napus. PLoS One 11, e0157558.
- Hu, H., Xiong, L., 2014. Genetic engineering and breeding of drought—resistant crops. Ann. Rev. Plant Biol. 65, 715–741.
- Hu, X., Lu, M., Li, C., Liu, T., Wang, W., Wu, J., Tai, F., Li, X., Zhang, J., 2011. Differential expression of proteins in maize roots in response to abscisic acid and drought. Acta Physiol. Plant. 33, 2437–2446.
- Huang, J., Wang, M.M., Jiang, Y., Bao, Y.M., Huang, X., Sun, H., Xu, D.Q., Lan, H.X., Zhang, H.S., 2008. Expression analysis of rice A20/AN1–type zinc finger genes and characterization of ZFP177 that contributes to temperature stress tolerance. Gene 420, 135–144.

- Huang, Q., Wang, Y., Li, B., Chang, J., Chen, M., Li, K., Yang, G., He, G., 2015. TaNAC29, a NAC transcription factor from wheat, enhances salt and drought tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. BMC Plant Biol. 15, 268.
- Hwang, I., Manoharan, R.K., Kang, J.G., Chung, M.Y., Kim, Y.W., Nou, I.S., 2016. Genome—wide Identification and characterization of bZIP transcription factors in *Brassica oleracea* under cold stress. BioMed Res. Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4376598.
- Ikeda, M., Mitsuda, N., Ohme–Takagi, M., 2011. *Arabidopsis* HsfB1 and HsfB2b act as repressors of the expression of heat–inducible Hsfs but positively regulate the acquired thermotolerance. Plant Physiol. 157, 1243–1254.
- Ingram, K.T., Leers, G.A., 2001. 2001. Software for measuring root characters from digital images. Agron. J. 93, 918–922.
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovenmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York. Available online: http://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/publications_ipcc_fourth_assessment_ report_wg1_report_the_physical_science_basis.htm.
- Iyer—Pascuzzi, A.S., Symonova, O., Mileyko, Y., Hao, Y., Belcher, H., Harer, J., Weitz, J.S., Benfey, P.N., 2010. Imaging and analysis platform for automatic phenotyping and trait ranking of plant root systems. Plant Physiol. 152, 1148–1157.
- Jagadish, S.V.K., Muthurajan, R., Oane, R., Wheeler, T.R., Heuer, S., Bennett, J., Craufurd, P.Q., 2010. Physiological and proteomic approaches to address heat tolerance during anthesis in rice (*Oryza sativa L.*). J. Exp. Bot. 61, 143–156.
- Jahnke, S., Menzel, M.I., van Dusschoten, D., Roeb, G.W., Bühler, J., Minwuyelet, S., Blümler, P., Temperton, V.M., Hombach, T., Streun, M., Beer, S., Khodaverdi, M., Ziemons, K., Coenen, H.H., Schurr, U., 2009. Combined MRI–PET dissects dynamic changes in plant structures and functions. Plant J. 59, 634–644.
- Jan, A., Maruyama, K., Todaka, D., Kidokoro, S., Abo, M., Yoshimura, E., Shinozaki, K., Nakashima, K., Yamaguchi–Shinozaki, K., 2013. OsTZF1, a CCCH–tandem zinc finger protein, confers delayed senescence and stress tolerance in rice by regulating stress–related genes. Plant Physiol. 161, 1202–1216.
- Jeong, J.S., Kim, Y.S., Baek, K.H., Jung, H., Ha, S.H., Do Choi, Y., Kim, M., Reuzeau, C., Kim, J.K., 2010. Root–specific expression of OsNAC10 improves drought tolerance and grain yield in rice under field drought conditions. Plant Physiol. 153, 185–197.
- Jha, U.C., Bohra, A., Singh, N.P., 2014. Heat stress in crop plants: its nature, impacts and integrated breeding strategies to improve heat tolerance. Plant Breed. 133, 679–701.
- Jia, Z., Lian, Y., Zhu, Y., He, J., Cao, Z., Wang, G., 2009. Cloning and characterization of a putative transcription factor induced by abiotic stress in *Zea mays*. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 8, 6764–6771.
- Jiang, F., Hartung, W., 2008. Long-distance signalling of abscisic acid (ABA): the factors regulating the intensity of the ABA signal. J. Exp. Bot. 59, 37–43.
- Jin, X.F., Xiong, A.S., Peng, R.H., Liu, J.G., Gao, F., Chen, J.M., Yao, Q.H., 2010. OsAREB1, an ABRE—binding protein responding to ABA and glucose, has multiple functions in *Arabidopsis*. BMB Rep 43, 34–39.
- Jing, Q., Huffman, T., Shang, J., Liu, J., Pattey, E., Morrison, M.J., Jégo, G., Qian, B., 2017. Modelling soybean yield responses to seeding date under projected climate change scenarios. Can. J. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/10.1139/CJPS-2017-0065.
- Johnson II, F.E., Nelson, K.A., Motavalli, P.P., 2016. Urea fertilizer placement impacts on corn growth and nitrogen utilization in a poorly-drained claypan soil. J. Agr. Sci. 9, 28–40.
- Johnson, M.G., Tingey, D.T., Phillips, D.L., Storm, M.J., 2001. Advancing fine root research with minirhizotrons. Environ. Exp. Bot. 45, 263–289.

- Johnston, A.M., Tanaka, D.L., Miller, P.R., Brandt, S.A., Nielsen, D.C., Lafond, G.P., Riveland, N.R., 2002. Oilseed crops for semiarid cropping system in the Northern Great Plains. Agron. J. 94, 231–240.
- Joo, J., Choi, H.J., Lee, Y.H., Kim, Y.K., Song, S.I., 2013. A transcriptional repressor of the ERF family confers drought tolerance to rice and regulates genes preferentially located on chromosome 11. Planta 238, 155–170.
- Joshi, R., Wani, S.H., Singh, B., Bohra, A., Dar, Z.A., Lone, A.A., Pareek, A., Singla– Pareek, S.L., 2016. Transcription factors and plants response to drought stress: current understanding and future directions. Front. Plant Sci. 7.
- Judd, L.A., Jackson, B.E., Fonteno, W.C., 2015. Advancements in root growth measurement technologies and observation capabilities for container—grown plants. Plants 4, 369–392.
- Kang, S., Zhang, J., 2004. Controlled alternate partial root–zone irrigation: its physiological consequences and impact on water use efficiency. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 2437–2446.
- Kaur, G., Asthir, B., 2017. Molecular responses to drought stress in plants. Biol. Plantarum 61, 201–209.
- Khan, G.A., Declerck, M., Sorin, C., Hartmann, C., Crespi, M., Lelandais–Brière, C., 2011. MicroRNAs as regulators of root development and architecture. Plant Mol. Boil. 77, 47–58.
- Koh, J., Chen, G., Yoo, M.J., Zhu, N., Dufresne, D., Erickson, J.E., Shao, H., Chen, S., 2015. Comparative proteomic analysis of *Brassica napus* in response to drought stress. J. Proteome Res. 14, 3068–3081.
- Kooyers, N.J., 2015. The evolution of drought escape and avoidance in natural herbaceous populations. Plant Sci. 234, 155–162.
- Kwon, S.W., Kim, M., Kim, H., Lee, J., 2016. Shotgun quantitative proteomic analysis of proteins responding to drought stress in *Brassica rapa L.* (inbred line "Chiifu"). Int. J. Genomics. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4235808.
- Labra, M.H., Struik, P.C., Evers, J.B., Calderini, D.F., 2017. Plasticity of seed weight compensates reductions in seed number of oilseed rape in response to shading at flowering. Eur. J. Agron. 84, 113–124.
- Lang, A.R.G., 1973. Leaf orientation of a cotton plant. Agric. Meteorol. 11, 37-51.
- Larkindale, J., Hall, J.D., Knight, M.R., Vierling, E., 2005. Heat stress phenotypes of *Arabidopsis* mutants implicate multiple signaling pathways in the acquisition of thermotolerance. Plant Physiol. 138, 882–897.
- Lauter, N., Kampani, A., Carlson, S., Goebel, M., Moose, S.P., 2005. MicroRNA172 down-regulates glossy15 to promote vegetative phase change in maize. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 9412–9417.
- Lavirf, J., 1972. Responses of Plants to Environmental Stresses. Academic Press, New York.
- Lawlor, D.W., Tezara, W., 2009. Causes of decreased photosynthetic rate and metabolic capacity in water—deficient leaf cells: a critical evaluation of mechanisms and integration of processes. Ann. Bot. 103, 561–579.
- Le Bot, J., Serra, V., Fabre, J., Draye, X., Adamowicz, S., Page's, L., 2010. DART: a software to analyse root system architecture and development from captured images. Plant Soil 326, 261–273.
- Levitt, J., 1980. Responses of Plant to Environmental Stress Chilling, Freezing, and High Temperature Stresses. Academic Press, New York.
- Li, C., Wen, X., Wan, X., Liu, Y., Han, J., Liao, Y., Wu, W., 2016. Towards the highly effective use of precipitation by ridge—furrow with plastic film mulching instead of relying on irrigation resources in a dry semi—humid area. Field Crops Res. 188, 62–73.
- Li, L., Ye, C., Zhao, R., Li, X., Liu, W.Z., Wu, F., Yan, J., Jiang, Y.Q., Yang, B., 2015. Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAPKKK) 4 from rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) is a novel member inducing ROS accumulation and cell death. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 467, 792–797.

- Li, P.F., Ma, B.L., Xiong, Y.C., Zhang, W.Y., 2017. Morphological and physiological responses of different wheat genotypes to chilling stress: a cue to explain yield loss. J. Sci. Food Agr. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8271.
- Li, Z., Mei, S., Mei, Z., Liu, X., Fu, T., Zhou, G., Tu, J., 2014. Mapping of QTL associated with waterlogging tolerance and drought resistance during the seedling stage in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). Euphytica 197, 341–353.
- Liang, B.C., Wang, X.L., Ma, B.L., 2002. Maize root—induced change in soil organic carbon pools. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 66, 845–847.
- Lilley, J.M., Kirkegaard, J.A., 2011. Benefits of increased soil exploration by wheat roots. Field Crops Res. 122, 118–130.
- Liu, C., Mao, B., Ou, S., Wang, W., Liu, L., Wu, Y., Chu, C., Wang, X., 2014. OsbZIP71, a bZIP transcription factor, confers salinity and drought tolerance in rice. Plant Mol. Boil. 84, 19–36.
- Liu, H., Zhou, X., Dong, N., Liu, X., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., 2011. Expression of a wheat MYB gene in transgenic tobacco enhances resistance to *Ralstonia solanacearum*, and to drought and salt stresses. Funct. Integr. Genomics 11, 431–443.
- Liu, J., Sun, N., Liu, M., Liu, J., Du, B., Wang, X., Qi, X., 2013. An autoregulatory loop controlling *Arabidopsis* HsfA2 expression: role of heat shock—induced alternative splicing. Plant Physiol. 162, 512–521.
- Liu, L., Zhang, Z., Dong, J., Wang, T., 2016. Overexpression of MtWRKY76 increases both salt and drought tolerance in *Medicago truncatula*. Environ. Exp. Bot. 123, 50–58.
- Lobell, D., Gourdji, S., 2012. The influence of climate change on global crop productivity. Plant Physiol. 160, 1686–1697.
- Lontoc-Roy, M., Dutilleul, P., Prasher, S.O., Han, L., Brouillet, T., Smith, D.L., 2006. Advances in the acquisition and analysis of CT scan data to isolate a crop root system from the soil medium and quantify root system complexity in 3–D space. Geoderma 137, 231–241.
- Lotze–Campen, H., Schellnhuber, H.J., 2009. Climate impacts and adaptation options in agriculture: what we know and what we don't know. J. Consum. Prot. Food Safety 4, 145–150.
- Lou, P., Zhao, J., Kim, J.S., Shen, S., Del Carpio, D.P., Song, X., Jin, M., Vreugdenhil, D., Wang, X., Koornneef, M., Bonnema, G., 2007. Quantitative trait loci for flowering time and morphological traits in multiple populations of *Brassica rapa*. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 4005–4016.
- Lu, G., Cao, J., Yu, X., Xiang, X., Chen, H., 2008. Mapping QTLs for root morphological traits in *Brassica rapa L*. based on AFLP and RAPD markers. J. Appl. Genet. 49, 23–31.
- Lu, M., Ying, S., Zhang, D.F., Shi, Y.S., Song, Y.C., Wang, T.Y., Li, Y., 2012. A maize stress-responsive NAC transcription factor, ZmSNAC1, confers enhanced tolerance to dehydration in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell Rep. 31, 1701–1711.
- Luo, X., Bai, X., Sun, X., Zhu, D., Liu, B., Ji, W., Cai, H., Cao, L., Wu, J., Hu, M., Liu, X., 2013. Expression of wild soybean WRKY20 in *Arabidopsis* enhances drought tolerance and regulates ABA signalling. J. Exp. Bot. 64, 2155–2169.
- Lynch, J.P., 2013. Steep, cheap and deep: an ideotype to optimize water and N acquisition by maize root systems. Ann. Bot. 112, 347–357.
- Ma, B.L., Herath, A.W., 2016. Timing and rates of nitrogen fertiliser application on seed yield, quality and nitrogen—use efficiency of canola. Crop Past. Sci. 67, 167–180.
- Ma, B.L., Zhao, H., Zheng, Z.M., Caldwell, C., Mills, A., Earl, H., Vanasse, A., Scott, P., Smith, D.L., 2016a. Optimizing seeding dates and rates for canola production in the humid eastern Canadian agroecosystems. Agron. J. 108, 1869–1879.
- Ma, B.L., Zheng, Z.M., 2016. Relationship between plant nitrogen and phosphorus accumulations in a canola crop as affected by nitrogen management under ample phosphorus supply conditions. Can. J. Plant Sci. 96, 853–866.

- Ma, H., Wang, C., Yang, B., Cheng, H., Wang, Z., Mijiti, A., Ren, C., Qu, G., Zhang, H., Ma, L., 2016b. CarHSFB2, a class B heat shock transcription factor, is involved in different developmental processes and various stress responses in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 34, 1–14.
- Mackie–Dawson, L.A., Atkinson, D., 1991. Methodology for the study of roots in field experiments and the interpretation of results. In: Atkinson, D. (Ed.), Plant Root Growth, an Ecological Perspective. Blackwell, London, pp. 25–47.
- Maestri, E., Klueva, N., Perrotta, C., Gulli, M., Nguyen, T., Marmiroli, N., 2002. Molecular genetics of heat tolerance and heat shock proteins in cereals. J. Plant Mol. Biol. 48, 667–681.
- Mallory, A.C., Bartel, D.P., Bartel, B., 2005. MicroRNA–directed regulation of *Arabidopsis* Auxin Response Factor17 is essential for proper development and modulates expression of early auxin response genes. Plant Cell 17, 1360–1375.
- Manschadi, A.M., Christopher, J., Hammer, G.L., 2006. The role of root architectural traits in adaptation of wheat to water–limited environments. Funct. Plant Biol. 33, 823–837.
- Mao, X., Chen, S., Li, A., Zhai, C., Jing, R., 2014. Novel NAC transcription factor TaNAC67 confers enhanced multi-abiotic stress tolerances in *Arabidopsis*. PLoS One 9, e84359.
- Marin, E., Jouannet, V., Herz, A., Lokerse, A.S., Weijers, D., Vaucheret, H., Nussaume, L., Crespi, M.D., Maizel, A., 2010. MiR390, *Arabidopsis* TAS3 tasiRNAs, and their AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR targets define an autoregulatory network quantitatively regulating lateral root growth. Plant Cell 22, 1104–1117.
- Martinez–Medina, A., Flors, V., Heil, M., Mauch–Mani, B., Pieterse, C.M., Pozo, M.J., Ton, J., van Dam, N.M., Conrath, U., 2016. Recognizing plant defense priming. Trends Plant Sci. 21, 818–822.
- McVetty, P.B.E., Duncan, R.W., 2015. Canola, rapeseed, and mustard: for biofuels and bioproducts. In: Cruz, V.M.V., Dierig, D.A. (Eds.), Industrial Crops. Handbook of Plant Breeding. Springer, New York.
- Mei, D.S., Wang, H.Z., Hu, Q., Li, Y.D., Xu, Y.S., Li, Y.C., 2009. QTL analysis on plant height and flowering time in *Brassica napus*. Plant Breed. 128, 458–465.
- Meng, X., Wang, J.R., Wang, G.D., Liang, X.Q., Li, X.D., Meng, Q.W., 2015. An R2R3– MYB gene, LeAN2, positively regulated the thermo-tolerance in transgenic tomato. J. Plant Physiol. 175, 1–8.
- Metzner, R., Eggert, A., van Dusschoten, D., Pflugfelder, D., Gerth, S., Schurr, U., Uhlmann, N., Jahnke, S., 2015. Direct comparison of MRI and X—ray CT technologies for 3D imaging of root systems in soil: potential and challenges for root trait quantification. Plant Meth. 11, 17.
- Mickelbart, M.V., Hasegawa, P.M., Bailey–Serres, J., 2015. Genetic mechanisms of abiotic stress tolerance that translate to crop yield stability. Nat. Rev. Genet. 16, 237–251.
- Milchunas, D.G., 2012. Biases and errors associated with different root production methods and their effects on field estimates of belowground net primary production. In: Mancuso, S. (Ed.), Measuring Roots. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 303–339.
- Miles, C., Wayne, M., 2008. Quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis. Nat. Educ. 208.
- Miller, T.W., Hendrickx, J.M.H., Borchers, B., 2004. Radar detection of buried landmines in field soils. Vod. Zone J. 3, 1116–1127.
- Mittler, R., 2002. Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci. 7, 405-410.
- Mo, F., Sun, M., Liu, X., Wang, J., Zhang, X., Ma, B.L., Xiong, Y.C., 2016. Phenological responses of spring wheat and maize to changes in crop management and rising temperatures from 1992 to 2013 across the Loess Plateau. Field Crops Res. 196, 337–347.
- Mohammadi, P.P., Moieni, A., Komatsu, S., 2012. Comparative proteome analysis of drought-sensitive and drought-tolerant rapeseed roots and their hybrid F1 line under drought stress. Amino Acids 43, 2137–2152.

- Mooney, S.J., Pridmore, T.P., Helliwell, J., Bennett, M.J., 2012. Developing X-ray computed tomography to non-invasively image 3-D root systems architecture in soil. Plant Soil 352, 1-22.
- Morrison, M.J., Stewart, D.W., 2002. Heat stress during flowering in summer *Brassica*. Crop Sci. 42, 797–803.
- Morrison, M.J., 1993. Heat stress during reproduction in summer rape. Can. J. Bot. 71, 303– 308.
- Morrison, M.J., Gutknecht, A., Chan, J., Miller, S.S., 2016. Characterising canola pollen germination across a temperature gradient. Crop Past. Sci. 67, 317–322.
- Müller, F., Rieu, I., 2016. Acclimation to high temperature during pollen development. Plant Reprod. 29, 107–118.
- Niu, F., Wang, C., Yan, J., Guo, X., Wu, F., Yang, B., Deyholos, M.K., Jiang, Y.Q., 2016. Functional characterization of NAC55 transcription factor from oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*) as a novel transcriptional activator modulating reactive oxygen species accumulation and cell death. Plant Mol. Biol. 92, 89–104.
- Ohama, N., Sato, H., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi–Shinozaki, K., 2017. Transcriptional regulatory network of plant heat stress response. Trends Plant Sci. 22, 53–65.
- Oliveira, M.R., Van Noordwijk, M., Gaze, S.R., Brouwer, G., Bona, S., Mosca, G., Hairiah, K., 2000. Auger sampling, ingrowth cores and pinboard methods. In: Smit, A.L., Bengough, A.G., Engels, C., van Noordwijk, M., Pellerin, S., van de Geijn, S.C. (Eds.), Root Methods. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 175–210.
- Ortiz, R., Sayre, K.D., Govaerts, B., Gupta, R., Subbarao, G.V., Ban, T., Hodson, D., Dixon, J.M., Ortiz–Monasterio, J.I., Reynolds, M., 2008. Climate change: can wheat beat the heat? Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 126, 46–58.
- Osmont, K.S., Sibout, R., Hardtke, C.S., 2007. Hidden branches: developments in root system architecture. Ann. Rev. Plant Biol. 58, 93–113.
- Osonubi, O., 1984. Effect of water stress on leaf and root growth, and water uptake of Gmelina arborea ROXB seedlings. Biol. Plantarum 26, 246–252.
- Peng, Z., Wang, M., Li, F., Lv, H., Li, C., Xia, G., 2009. A proteomic study of the response to salinity and drought stress in an introgression strain of bread wheat. Mol. Cell Proteom. 8, 2676–2686.
- Peng, X., Zhang, L., Zhang, L., Liu, Z., Cheng, L., Yang, Y., Shen, S., Chen, S., Liu, G., 2013. The transcriptional factor LcDREB2 cooperates with LcSAMDC2 to contribute to salt tolerance in *Leynus chinensis*. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. 113, 245–256.
- Perret, J.S., Al-Belushi, M.E., Deadman, M., 2007. Non-destructive visualization and quantification of roots using computed tomography. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39, 391–399.
- Petzold, B., Reiss, P., Stössel, W., 1999. Laser scanning—surveying and mapping agencies are using a new technique for the derivation of digital terrain models. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens. 54, 95–104.
- Phukan, D., Singh, P.B., Ravi, I., Mithra, A.S., Yadava, D.K., Chinnusamy, V., Mohapatra, T., 2016. Cloning and characterization of drought stress—induced NAC transcription factors from *Brassica juncea* and *Sinapis alba*. Ind. J. Genet. Pl. Br. 76, 233–245.
- Pillai, B.V., Kagale, S., Chellamma, S., 2012. Enhancing productivity and performance of oil seed crops under environmental stresses. In: Venkateswarlu, B., Shanker, A., Shanker, C., Maheswari, M. (Eds.), Crop Stress and its Management: Perspectives and Strategies. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 139–161.
- Pitzschke, A., Hirt, H., 2009. Disentangling the complexity of mitogen-activated protein kinases and reactive oxygen species signaling. Plant Physiol. 149, 606-615.
- Placido, D.F., Campbell, M.T., Folsom, J.J., Cui, X., Kruger, G.R., Baenziger, P.S., Walia, H., 2013. Introgression of novel traits from a wild wheat relative improves drought adaptation in wheat. Plant Physiol. 161, 1806–1819.

- Postic, F., Claude, D., 2016. Benchmarking electrical methods for rapid estimation of root biomass. Plant Meth. 12, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-016-0133-7.
- Prasad, P.V., Boote, K.J., Allen, L.H., 2006. Adverse high temperature effects on pollen viability, seed—set, seed yield and harvest index of grain—sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] are more severe at elevated carbon dioxide due to higher tissue temperatures. Agr. For. Meteorol. 139, 237–251.
- Qin, Y., Tian, Y., Han, L., Yang, X., 2013. Constitutive expression of a salinity-induced wheat WRKY transcription factor enhances salinity and ionic stress tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 441, 476–481.
- Qin, Y., Wang, M., Tian, Y., He, W., Han, L., Xia, G., 2012. Over–expression of TaMYB33 encoding a novel wheat MYB transcription factor increases salt and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Mol. Biol. Rep. 39, 7183–7192.
- Raja, V., Majeed, U., Kang, H., Andrabi, K.I., John, R., 2017. Abiotic stress: interplay between ROS, hormones and MAPKs. Environ. Exp. Bot. 137, 142–157.
- Rasmussen, S., Barah, P., Suarez–Rodriguez, M.C., Bressendorff, S., Friis, P., Costantino, P., Bones, A.M., Nielsen, H.B., Mundy, J., 2013. Transcriptome responses to combinations of stresses in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol. 161, 1783–1794.
- Ravikumar, G., Manimaran, P., Voleti, S.R., Subrahmanyam, D., Sundaram, R.M., Bansal, K.C., Viraktamath, B.C., Balachandran, S.M., 2014. Stress—inducible expression of AtDREB1A transcription factor greatly improves drought stress tolerance in transgenic indica rice. Transgenic Res. 23, 421–439.
- Reddy, A.R., Chaitanya, K.V., Vivekanandan, M., 2004. Drought induced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. J. Plant Physiol. 161, 1189–1202.
- Reilly, J., Tubiello, F., McCarl, B., Abler, D., Darwin, R., Fuglie, K., Hollinger, S., Izaurralde, C., Jagtap, S., Jones, J., Mearns, L., 2003. US agriculture and climate change: new results. Climatic Change 57, 43–67.
- Repo, T., Cao, Y., Silvennoinen, R., Ozier–Lafontaine, H., 2012. Electrical impedance spectroscopy and roots. In: Mancuso, S. (Ed.), Measuring Roots. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 25–49.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H., Mittler, R., 2002. The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. Plant Physiol. 130, 1143–1151.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H., Shuman, J., Shulaev, V., Davletova, S., Mittler, R., 2004. When defense pathways collide. The response of *Arabidopsis* to a combination of drought and heat stress. Plant Physiol. 134, 1683–1696.
- Roger, P.A., Kulasooriya, S.A., Tirol, A.C., Craswell, E.T., 1980. Deep placement: a method of nitrogen fertilizer application compatible with algal nitrogen fixation in wetland rice soils. Plant Soil 57, 137–142.
- Rogers, E.D., Monaenkova, D., Mijar, M., Nori, A., Goldman, D.I., Benfey, P.N., 2016. X-ray computed tomography reveals the response of root system architecture to soil texture. Plant Physiol. 171, 2028–2040.
- Ryan, P.R., Delhaize, E., Watt, M., Richardson, A.E., 2016. Plant roots: understanding structure and function in an ocean of complexity. Ann. Bot. 118, 555–559.
- Saad, A.S.I., Li, X., Li, H.P., Huang, T., Gao, C.S., Guo, M.W., Cheng, W., Zhao, G.Y., Liao, Y.C., 2013. A rice stress—responsive NAC gene enhances tolerance of transgenic wheat to drought and salt stresses. Plant Sci. 203, 33–40.
- Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Osakabe, Y., Qin, F., Seki, M., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi– Shinozaki, K., 2006a. Functional analysis of an *Arabidopsis* transcription factor, DREB2A, involved in drought–responsive gene expression. Plant Cell 18, 1292–1309.
- Sakuma, Y., Maruyama, K., Qin, F., Osakabe, Y., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi–Shinozaki, K., 2006b. Dual function of an *Arabidopsis* transcription factor DREB2A in water–stress– responsive and heat–stress–responsive gene expression. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 18822–18827.

- Salekdeh, G.H., Komatsu, S., 2007. Crop proteomics: aim at sustainable agriculture of tomorrow. Proteomics 7, 2976–2996.
- Sato, H., Mizoi, J., Tanaka, H., Maruyama, K., Qin, F., Osakabe, Y., Morimoto, K., Ohori, T., Kusakabe, K., Nagata, M., Shinozaki, K., 2014. *Arabidopsis* DPB3–1, a DREB2A interactor, specifically enhances heat stress–induced gene expression by forming a heat stress–specific transcriptional complex with NF–Y subunits. Plant Cell 26, 4954–4973.
- Savvides, A., Ali, S., Tester, M., Fotopoulos, V., 2016. Chemical priming of plants against multiple abiotic stresses: mission possible? Trends Plant Sci. 21, 329–340.
- Schramm, F., Larkindale, J., Kiehlmann, E., Ganguli, A., Englich, G., Vierling, E., Koskull-Döring, V., 2008. A cascade of transcription factor DREB2A and heat stress transcription factor HsfA3 regulates the heat stress response of *Arabidopsis*. Plant J. 53, 264–274.
- Schranz, M.E., Quijada, P., Sung, S.B., Lukens, L., Amasino, R., Osborn, T.C., 2002. Characterization and effects of the replicated flowering time gene FLC in *Brassica rapa*. Genetics 162, 1457–1468.
- Schuurman, J.J., Goedewaagen, M.A.J., 1971. Methods for the Examination of Root Systems and Roots, second ed.s. Wageningen.
- Seo, J.S., Sohn, H.B., Noh, K., Jung, C., An, J.H., Donovan, C.M., Somers, D.A., Kim, D.I., Jeong, S.C., Kim, C.G., Kim, H.M., 2012. Expression of the *Arabidopsis* AtMYB44 gene confers drought/salt—stress tolerance in transgenic soybean. Mol. Breeding 29, 601–608.
- Sharma, P., Jha, A.B., Dubey, R.S., Pessarakli, M., 2012. Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J. Bot. 217037. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/217037.
- Shi, L., Yang, J., Liu, J., Li, R., Long, Y., Xu, F., Meng, J., 2012. Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with low boron stress that regulate root and shoot growth in *Brassica napus* seedlings. Mol. Breeding 30, 393–406.
- Shi, W., Muthurajan, R., Rahman, H., Selvam, J., Peng, S., Zou, Y., Jagadish, K.S., 2013. Source–sink dynamics and proteomic reprogramming under elevated night temperature and their impact on rice yield and grain quality. New Phytol. 197, 825–837.
- Shriram, V., Kumar, V., Devarumath, R.M., Khare, T.S., Wani, S.H., 2016. MicroRNAs as potential targets for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Front. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpls.2016.00817.
- Singh, R., Jwa, N.S., 2013. Understanding the responses of rice to environmental stress using proteomics. J. Proteome Res. 12, 4652–4669.
- Smith, S., Smet, I.D., 2012. Root system architecture: insights from *Arabidopsis* and cereal crops. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. 367, 1441–1452.
- Song, J.B., Gao, S., Sun, D., Li, H., Shu, X.X., Yang, Z.M., 2013. MiR394 and LCR are involved in *Arabidopsis* salt and drought stress responses in an abscisic acid-dependent manner. BMC Plant Biol. 13, 210.
- Sosa–Valencia, G., Palomar, M., Covarrubias, A.A., Reyes, J.L., 2016. The legume miR1514a modulates a NAC transcription factor transcript to trigger phasiRNA formation in response to drought. J. Exp. Bot. 68, 2013–2026.
- Stanley, R.G., Linskens, H.F., 1974. Pollen: Biology Biochemistry Management. Springer– Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, New York.
- Stefansson, B.R., Downey, R.K., 1995. Rapeseed. In: Slinkard, A.E., Knott, D.R. (Eds.), Harvest of Gold. University Extension Press, Saskatoon, pp. 140–152.
- Stief, A., Altmann, S., Hoffmann, K., Pant, B.D., Scheible, W.R., Bäurle, I., 2014. Arabidopsis miR156 regulates tolerance to recurring environmental stress through SPL transcription factors. Plant Cell 26, 1792–1807.
- Stokes, A., Fourcaud, T., Hruska, J., Cermak, J., Nadyezdhina, N., Nadyezhdin, V., Praus, L., 2002. An evaluation of different methods to investigate root system architecture of urban trees in situ: 1. Ground-penetrating radar. J. Arboric. 28, 2–10.

- Stolzy, L.H., Barley, K.P., 1968. Mechanical resistance encountered by roots entering compact soils. Soil Sci. 105, 297–301.
- Stone, P., 2001. The effects of heat stress on cereal yield and quality. In: Basra (Ed.), Crop Responses and Adaptations to Temperature Stress. Food Products Press, Binghamton, NY, pp. 243–291.
- Studer, M.S., Siegwolf, R.T.W., Abiven, S., 2014. Carbon transfer, partitioning and residence time in the plant–soil system: a comparison of two ¹³CO₂ labelling techniques. Biogeosciences 11, 1637–1648.
- Su, L.T., Li, J.W., Liu, D.Q., Zhai, Y., Zhang, H.J., Li, X.W., Zhang, Q.L., Wang, Y., Wang, Q.Y., 2014. A novel MYB transcription factor, GmMYBJ1, from soybean confers drought and cold tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Gene 538, 46–55.
- Subedi, K.D., Ma, B.L., 2005. Seed priming does not improve maize yield in the humid environment. Agron. J. 97, 211–218.
- Subedi, K.D., Ma, B.L., 2010. Wheat development, productivity, and N use are unaffected by stable isotope form of the N source. Crop Sci. 50, 1490–1495.
- Subedi, K.D., Ma, B.L., Liang, B.C., 2006. New method to estimate root biomass in soil through root-derived carbon. Soil Biol. Biochem. 38, 2212–2218.
- Sun, Y., Wang, C., Yang, B., Wu, F., Hao, X., Liang, W., Niu, F., Yan, J., Zhang, H., Wang, B., Deyholos, M.K., 2014. Identification and functional analysis of mitogen– activated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAPKKK) genes in canola (*Brassica napus L.*). J. Exp. Bot. 65, 2171–2188.
- Sunkar, R., Li, Y.F., Jagadeeswaran, G., 2012. Functions of microRNAs in plant stress responses. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 196–203.
- Suzuki, N., 2016. Hormone signaling pathways under stress combinations. Plant Signal. Beyond Behav. 11, e1247139.
- Suzuki, N., Koussevitzky, S., Mittler, R.O.N., Miller, G.A.D., 2012. ROS and redox signalling in the response of plants to abiotic stress. Plant Cell Environ. 35, 259–270.
- Suzuki, N., Rivero, R.M., Shulaev, V., Blumwald, E., Mittler, R., 2014. Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. New Phytol. 203, 32–43.
- Suzuki, N., Sejima, H., Tam, R., Schlauch, K., Mittler, R., 2011. Identification of the MBF1 heat-response regulon of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 66, 844–851.
- Svačina, P., Středa, T., Chloupek, O., 2014. Uncommon selection by root system size increases barley yield. Agron. Sust. Dev. 34, 545–551.
- Taylor, H.M., Upchurch, D.R., Brown, J.M., Rogers, H.H., 1991. Some methods of root investigations. In: Mc Michael, B.L., Persson, H. (Eds.), Plant Roots and Their Environment. Elsevier, London, pp. 553–562.
- Tesfamariam, E.H., Annandale, J.G., Steyn, J.M., 2010. Water stress effects on winter canola growth and yield. Agron. J. 102, 658–666.
- Tester, M., Langridge, P., 2010. Breeding technologies to increase crop production in a changing world. Science 327, 818–822.
- Thomas, H., Ougham, H., 2014. The stay-green trait. J. Exp. Bot. 65, 3889-3900.
- Thomas, C.L., Graham, N.S., Hayden, R., Meacham, M.C., Neugebauer, K., Nightingale, M., Dupuy, L.X., Hammond, J.P., White, P.J., Broadley, M.R., 2016. High throughput phenotyping (HTP) identifies seedling root traits linked to variation in seed yield and nutrient capture in field-grown oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*). Ann. Bot. 118, 655–665.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R., Polasky, S., 2002. Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature 418, 671–678.
- Tracy, S.R., Roberts, J.A., Black, C.R., McNeill, A., Davidson, R., Mooney, S.J., 2010. The X-factor: visualizing undisturbed root architecture in soils using X-ray computed tomography. J. Exp. Bot. 61, 311–313.

- Trinidad, J.L., Grajo, H.L., Abucay Jr., J.B., Kohli, A., 2016. Cereal root proteomics for complementing the mechanistic understanding of plant abiotic stress tolerance. In: Salekdeh, G. (Ed.), Agricultural Proteomics, vol. 2. Springer International Publishing, pp. 19–51.
- Tripathi, A., Tripathi, D.K., Chauhan, D.K., Kumar, N., Singh, G.S., 2016. Paradigms of climate change impacts on some major food sources of the world: a review on current knowledge and future prospects. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 216, 356–373.
- Uga, Y., Okuno, K., Yano, M., 2011. Dro1, a major QTL involved in deep rooting of rice under upland field conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 2485–2494.
- Uga, Y., Sugimoto, K., Ogawa, S., Rane, J., Ishitani, M., Hara, N., Kitomi, Y., Inukai, Y., Ono, K., Kanno, N., Inoue, H., 2013. Control of root system architecture by Deeper Rooting 1 increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nat. Genet. 45, 1097–1102.
- Vamerali, T., Bandiera, M., Mosca, G., 2012. Minirhizotrons in modern root studies. In: Mancuso, S. (Ed.), Measuring Roots. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 341–361.
- van Delden, S.H., Vos, J., Ennos, A.R., Stomph, T.J., 2010. Analysing lodging of the panicle bearing cereal teff (*Eragrostis teff*). New Phytol. 186, 696–707.
- van Dusschoten, D., Metzner, R., Kochs, J., Postma, J.A., Pflugfelder, D., Bühler, J., Schurr, U., Jahnke, S., 2016. Quantitative 3D analysis of plant roots growing in soil using magnetic resonance imaging. Plant Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.01388.
- Van Noordwijk, M., Lawson, G., Hairiah, K., Wilson, J., 2015. Root distribution of trees and crops: competition and/or complementarity. In: Tree–crop Interactions, 2nd Edition: Agroforestry in a Changing Climate. CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 221–257.
- van Vuuren, M.M., Robinson, D., Scrimgeour, C.M., Raven, J.A., Fitter, A.H., 2000. Decomposition of ¹³C–labelled wheat root systems following growth at different CO₂ concentrations. Soil Biol. Biochem. 32, 403–413.
- Varshney, R.K., Nayak, S.N., May, G.D., Jackson, S.A., 2009. Next–generation sequencing technologies and their implications for crop genetics and breeding. Trends Biotechnol. 27, 522–530.
- Vieten, A., Sauer, M., Brewer, P.B., Friml, J., 2007. Molecular and cellular aspects of auxin– transport–mediated development. Trends Plant Sci. 12, 160–168.
- Wang, J.W., Wang, L.J., Mao, Y.B., Cai, W.J., Xue, H.W., Chen, X.Y., 2005. Control of root cap formation by microRNA-targeted auxin response factors in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 17, 2204–2216.
- Wang, Z., Huang, B., 2004. Physiological recovery of Kentucky bluegrass from simultaneous drought and heat stress. Crop Sci. 44, 1729–1736.
- Wang, H., Wang, H., Shao, H., Tang, X., 2016a. Recent advances in utilizing transcription factors to improve plant abiotic stress tolerance by transgenic technology. Front. Plant Sci. 7.
- Wang, L., Jin, X., Li, Q., Wang, X., Li, Z., Wu, X., 2016b. Comparative proteomics reveals that phosphorylation of β carbonic anhydrase 1 might be important for adaptation to drought stress in *Brassica napus*. Sci. Rep. 6, 39024. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39024.
- Wang, P., Yang, C., Chen, H., Song, C., Zhang, X., Wang, D., 2017. Transcriptomic basis for drought–resistance in Brassica napus L. Sci. Rep. 7 https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep40532.
- Wang, T.C., Wei, L., Wang, H.Z., Ma, S.C., Ma, B.L., 2011. Responses of rainwater conservation, precipitation—use efficiency and grain yield of summer maize to a furrow—planting and straw—mulching system in northern China. Field Crops Res. 124, 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2011.06.014.
- Wang, W., Vinocur, B., Shoseyov, O., Altman, A., 2004. Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. Trends Plant Sci. 9, 244–252.

- Wang, Z., Ma, B.L., Gao, R., Sun, J., 2015. Effects of different management systems on root distribution of maize. Can. J. Plant Sci. 95, 21–28.
- Wang, Z., Wang, F., Hong, Y., Huang, J., Shi, H., Zhu, J.K., 2016c. Two chloroplast proteins suppress drought resistance by affecting ROS production in guard cells. Plant Physiol. 172, 2491–2503.
- Wani, S.H., Kumar, V., Shariram, V., Sah, S.K., 2016. Phytohormones and their metabolic engineering for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Crop J. 4, 162–176.
- Wu, W., Ma, B.L., 2015. Integrated nutrient management (INM) for sustaining crop productivity and reducing environmental impact: a review. Sci. Total Environ. 512, 415–427.
- Wu, W., Ma, B.L., 2016. A new method for assessing plant lodging and the impact of management options on lodging in canola crop production. Sci. Rep. 6, 31890. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep31890.
- Wu, W., Ma, B.L., 2018. Assessment of canola crop lodging under elevated temperatures for adaptation to climate change. Agr. For. Meteorol. 248, 329–338.
- Wu, W., Duncan, R., Ma, B.L., 2017. Quantification of canola root morphological traits under heat and drought stresses with electrical measurements. Plant Soil 415, 229–244.
- Wu, J., Pagès, L., Wu, Q., Yang, B., Guo, Y., 2015. Three–dimensional architecture of axile roots of field–grown maize. Plant Soil 387, 363–377.
- Xie, F.L., Huang, S.Q., Guo, K., Xiang, A.L., Zhu, Y.Y., Nie, L., Yang, Z.M., 2007. Computational identification of novel microRNAs and targets in *Brassica napus*. FEBS Lett. 581, 1464–1474.
- Xu, W., Jia, L., Shi, W., Liang, J., Zhou, F., Li, Q., Zhang, J., 2013. Abscisic acid accumulation modulates auxin transport in the root tip to enhance proton secretion for maintaining root growth under moderate water stress. New Phytol. 197, 139–150.
- Yamada, M., Sawa, S., 2013. The roles of peptide hormones during plant root development. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 16, 56–61.
- Yang, K.A., Lim, C.J., Hong, J.K., Park, C.Y., Cheong, Y.H., Chung, W.S., Lee, K.O., Lee, S.Y., Cho, M.J., Lim, C.O., 2006. Identification of cell wall genes modified by a permissive high temperature in Chinese cabbage. Plant Sci. 171, 175–182.
- Yang, M., Ding, G., Shi, L., Feng, J., Xu, F., Meng, J., 2010. Quantitative trait loci for root morphology in response to low phosphorus stress in *Brassica napus*. Theor. Appl. Genet. 121, 181–193.
- Ying, S., Zhang, D.F., Fu, J., Shi, Y.S., Song, Y.C., Wang, T.Y., Li, Y., 2012. Cloning and characterization of a maize bZIP transcription factor, ZmbZIP72, confers drought and salt tolerance in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. Planta 235, 253–266.
- Yoon, E.K., Yang, J.H., Lim, J., Kim, S.H., Kim, S.K., Lee, W.S., 2010. Auxin regulation of the microRNA390-dependent transacting small interfering RNA pathway in *Arabidopsis* sis lateral root development. Nucl. Acids Res. 38, 1382–1391.
- Yoshida, T., Fujita, Y., Maruyama, K., Mogami, J., Todaka, D., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi– Shinozaki, K., 2015. Four *Arabidopsis* AREB/ABF transcription factors function predominantly in gene expression downstream of SnRK2 kinases in abscisic acid signalling in response to osmotic stress. Plant Cell Environ. 38, 35–49.
- Yoshida, T., Ohama, N., Nakajima, J., Kidokoro, S., Mizoi, J., Nakashima, K., Maruyama, K., Kim, J.M., Seki, M., Todaka, D., Osakabe, Y., 2011. Arabidopsis HsfA1 transcription factors function as the main positive regulators in heat shock– responsive gene expression. Mol. Genet. Genomics 286, 321–332.
- Young, L.W., Wilen, R.W., Bonham-Smith, P.C., 2004. High temperature stress of *Brassica napus* during flowering reduces micro-and megagametophyte fertility, induces fruit abortion, and disrupts seed production. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 485–495.

- Yu, E., Fan, C., Yang, Q., Li, X., Wan, B., Dong, Y., Wang, X., Zhou, Y., 2014. Identification of heat responsive genes in *Brassica napus* siliques at the seed—filling stage through transcriptional profiling. PLoS One 9, e101914.
- Zadraznik, T., Hollung, K., Egge–Jacobsen, W., Meglic, V., Sustar–Vozlic, J., 2013. Differential proteomic analysis of drought stress response in leaves of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L.*). J. Proteom. 78, 254–272.
- Zahid, K.R., Ali, F., Shah, F., Younas, M., Shah, T., Shahwar, D., Hassan, W., Ahmad, Z., Qi, C., Lu, Y., Iqbal, A., Wu, W., 2016. Response and tolerance mechanism of cotton Gossypium hirsutum L. to elevated temperature stress: a review. Front. Plant Sci. 7 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00937.
- Zandalinas, S.I., Mittler, R., Balfagón, D., Arbona, V., Gómez-Cadenas, A., 2017. Plant adaptations to the combination of drought and high temperatures. Physiol. Plantarum. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.12540.
- Zhang, X.H., Zou, Z., Gong, P.J., Zhang, J.H., Ziaf, K., Li, H.X., Xiao, F.M., Ye, Z.B., 2011. Overexpression of microRNA169 confers enhanced drought tolerance to tomato. Biotechnol. Lett. 33, 403–409.
- Zhang, B., Wang, Q., 2015. MicroRNA–based biotechnology for plant improvement. J. Cell. Physiol. 230, 1–15.
- Zhang, H., Liu, W., Wan, L., Li, F., Dai, L., Li, D., Zhang, Z., Huang, R., 2010. Functional analyses of ethylene response factor JERF3 with the aim of improving tolerance to drought and osmotic stress in transgenic rice. Transgenic Res. 19, 809–818.
- Zhang, J., Mason, A.S., Wu, J., Liu, S., Zhang, X., Luo, T., Redden, R., Batley, J., Hu, L., Yan, G., 2015a. Identification of putative candidate genes for water stress tolerance in canola (*Brassica napus*). Front. Plant Sci. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.01058.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, L., Xia, C., Zhao, G., Liu, J., Jia, J., Kong, X., 2015b. A novel wheat bZIP transcription factor, TabZIP60, confers multiple abiotic stress tolerances in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. Physiol. Plantarum 153, 538–554.
- Zhang, S., Xu, Z.S., Li, P., Yang, L., Wei, Y., Chen, M., Li, L., Zhang, G., Ma, Y., 2013. Overexpression of TaHSF3 in transgenic *Arabidopsis* enhances tolerance to extreme temperatures. Plant Mol. Biol. Rep. 31, 688–697.
- Zhang, Y., Thomas, C.L., Xiang, J., Long, Y., Wang, X., Zou, J., Luo, Z., Ding, G., Cai, H., Graham, N.S., Hammond, J.P., 2016. QTL meta–analysis of root traits in *Brassica napus* under contrasting phosphorus supply in two growth systems. Sci. Rep. 6 https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep33113.
- Zhong, L., Zhou, W., Wang, H., Ding, S., Lu, Q., Wen, X., Peng, L., Zhang, L., Lu, C., 2013. Chloroplast small heat shock protein HSP21 interacts with plastid nucleoid protein pTAC5 and is essential for chloroplast development in *Arabidopsis* under heat stress. Plant Cell 25, 2925–2943.
- Zhou, M., Li, D.Y., Li, Z.G., Hu, Q., Yang, C.H., Zhu, L.H., Luo, H., 2013. Constitutive expression of a miR319 gene alters plant development and enhances salt and drought tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass. Plant Physiol. 161, 1375–1391.
- Zhu, T., Fang, S., Li, Z., Liu, Y., Liao, H., Yan, X., 2006. Quantitative analysis of 3-dimensional root architecture based on image reconstruction and its application to research on phosphorus uptake in soybean. Chin. Sci. Bull. 51, 2351–2361.
- Zhu, J., Ingram, P.A., Benfey, P.N., Elich, T., 2011. From lab to field, new approaches to phenotyping root system architecture. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 14, 310–317.
- Zinn, K.E., Tunc–Ozdemir, M., Harper, J.F., 2010. Temperature stress and plant sexual reproduction: uncovering the weakest links. J. Exp. Bot. 61, 1959–1968.